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BAYANAT’S PURPOSE,  
VISION AND VALUES 
OUR PURPOSE

At Bayanat, we bring game-
changing advantages to our 
customers by giving them predictive 
capabilities that enable them to stay 
ahead of today. 

With a history of innovation 
stretching back almost half a 
century, Bayanat has evolved 
from a UAE-focused mapping and 
surveying specialist into a geospatial 

that’s powering progress and 
transforming organizations around 
the world. 

A trusted partner to governments 
and to companies in a growing 
number of sectors, we are a global 
leader in geo-intelligence and AI-
powered data analytics. 

With G42 as Bayanat’s majority 
shareholder, we are at the heart of 
an ecosystem that’s dedicated to 
inventing a better everyday and to 
championing AI as a powerful force 
to protect our planet and support 
our communities. 

OVERVIEW

OUR VISION

Bayanat’s vision is to play a 
leading role in the realisation of 
AI’s potential to advance human 
progress. We aim to be the 
geospatial data partner of choice 
in our chosen markets, to be the 
geo-intelligence partner of choice 
in our chosen sectors, and to be 
the AI-powered data analytics 
partner of choice globally. 

We will achieve our vision by 
delivering customized solutions 
that meet the unique needs of our 
clients and by continuing to invest 
in our people, our partnerships 
and our propositions. 

In everything we do we are guided 
by a set of core values that underpin 
our culture:

  Customer-centricity: We are 
committed to understanding our 
customers’ needs and to delivering 
solutions that exceed their 
expectations.
  Integrity: We conduct business 
with the highest ethical standards 
and always act in the best interests 
of our customers and stakeholders.
  Innovation: We foster a culture 
of innovation by encouraging our 
employees to think creatively and 
to explore new ideas.
  Collaboration: We believe that 
collaboration and teamwork are 
essential to achieving our goals, 
and we work closely with our 
customers and partners to deliver 
the best outcomes. 
   Sustainability: We care for people 
by creating high value jobs in 
our business, by contributing to 
the economic prosperity of the 
communities we work in and by 
helping to protect the natural 
world around us. 

OUR VALUES

From our state-of-the-art 
infrastructure in Abu Dhabi to 
the furthest orbital satellite, we 
will always combine the latest 
technologies with the brightest 
minds to deliver tangible, 
sustainable value to our customers, 
investors, colleagues and other 
key stakeholders. 
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BOARD OF  
DIRECTORS

HE TAREQ AL HOSANI 
CHAIRMAN

 Secretary General of Tawazun 
Economic Council. 

Serves as the Chairman of GAL, 
Munich Health Daman Holding 
Ltd., as the Vice Chairman of Abu 

Forsan International Sports Resorts 
and Abu Dhabi Airports Company 

Board Member of a range of 
strategic entities including Yahsat, 
International Golden Group, EDGE, 
EDIC and others.

HE AHMED AL KUTTAB 
BOARD MEMBER

Director at ADNOC Group  

Extensive experience in providing 
strategic guidance and leadership to 
large organizations.

Board member at ADNOC 
Distribution, Emirates Development 
Bank and ADNOC Trading.

XIAOPING ZHANG
BOARD MEMBER

 
of G42.

Extensive experience in AI/
Technology industry globally.

Served as Managing Partner at Ernst 
& Young in Far East Asia, and as 
Associate Principal for McKinsey  
& Company.

OVERVIEW

ELHAM AL QASIM
BOARD MEMBER

Elham Al Qasim is a senior executive 
and investment professional based 
in the UAE.

In her executive capacity Elham 
has served as CEO of Digital14, 
leading over 1,000 staff in delivering 
cybersecurity and digital solutions.

HASAN AL HOSANI
BOARD MEMBER

Hasan is a technology and 
business leader with more than 
20 years of experience. Prior to 
joining Bayanat, Hasan was a 
key member of G42's merger 
and acquisition team. He also 
co-founded SECUIRA, was a 
founding member of the Abu 
Dhabi Monitoring and Control 
Center (ADMCC) and served in 
various leadership positions for 
Advanced Integrated Systems 
(AIS/ATS).
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MANAGEMENT  
TEAM

HASAN AL HOSANI
MANAGING DIRECTOR

Our Managing Director, Hasan 
is a technology and business 
leader, bringing more than 20 
years of experience to the task 
of leading Bayanat's expansion 
into geospatial artificial
intelligence. Before joining 
Bayanat, Hasan was a key 
member of G42's merger and 
acquisition team. He also 
co-founded SECUIRA, was a
founding member of the Abu 
Dhabi Monitoring and Control 
Center (ADMCC) and served in 
various leadership positions for 
Advanced Integrated Systems 
(AIS/ATS). Hasan holds a 
Master's Degree in Business 
Administration, is a Bachelor of 
Science in Electrical /Electronic 
Engineering and is currently 
working on his PhD thesis.

ABDULLA AL SHAMSI 
CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

Abdulla Al Shamsi brings more 
than 20 years of leadership 
experience to the role of COO 
at Bayanat. He is tasked with 
increasing Bayanat’s share in the 
rapidly growing Geospatial and 

operation. Abdulla is highly adept at 
enacting effective operational and 

in various executive level roles at 
Abu Dhabi General Services PJSC 

an ADNOC company. Abdulla holds 
a Master of Science in Management 
from the UK’s University of Wales 
and a Bachelor of Science in 
Industrial Engineering.

OVERVIEW

DR. FAN ZHU
CHIEF TECHNOLOGY OFFICER

As the CTO, Dr. Fan outlines the 
technological vision of Bayanat, 
from optimizing the production 

product portfolio with cutting-edge 
technology. Prior to joining Bayanat, 
Dr. Fan was leading the G42 
map department, and one of the 
founding directors of the Inception 

G42. He also spent two and a half 
years with the New York University 
Abu Dhabi as a research fellow 
focusing on 3D Computer Vision. Dr. 
Fan has authored/co-authored over 
100 papers in top AI conferences 
and journals, and he holds 5 US, 
Europe and China patents. Dr. Fan 
holds a PhD degree in Computer 
Vision and a MSc degree with 
distinction in Electrical Engineering 

RENYL RAUF
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

professional, Renyl brings more than 
20 years of global experience to 
the role of CFO at Bayanat, where 

operations and strategy, and 

of the company. Prior to joining 
Bayanat, Renyl held the role of 
VP – Group Finance at G42, Senior 
VP – Finance and Transformation 
at Jet Airways, and spent 10 years 
with Etihad Airways in various senior
finance roles. Renyl has led Capital 
market and M&A transactions across 
multiple geographies and has a proven 
track record of delivering organizational 
scaling and hyperbolic growth across 
various industries. He played a key role 
in the IPO of Bayanat which was the 
most successful trading debut in the 
world of 2022 according to Bloomberg. 

also holds a Bachelor of Commerce.
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HE TAREQ AL 
HOSANI 
 

CHAIRMAN
OF THE BOARD 

CHAIRMAN’S
MESSAGE

OVERVIEW

GLOBAL CHALLENGES, 
LOCAL OPPORTUNITIES

It is a great pleasure to write to you 
as the Chairman of the Bayanat 
Board and to present you with our 
second annual report since our 
listing on the Abu Dhabi Securities 
Exchange (ADX). 

Throughout 2023, the world has 
been confronted with a variety of 
complex challenges. From a world 
economy that was showing 
better-than-expected, but slow 
growth, to a geopolitical 
environment filled with tensions, and 
the impact of severe weather events 
attributed to climate change. 
 
Against this backdrop, it is 
remarkable to see how strongly the 
United Arab Emirates (UAE) has 
performed – and that holds 
particularly true for the non-oil 
sector. In the first half of 2023 alone, 
the country’s overall economy grew 
by 3.7 percent. Related to this 
growth, we see a strong appetite for 
local investments, reflecting our own 
experience as Bayanat shares were 
90x oversubscribed during its IPO 
on the ADX Market in the last 
quarter of 2022.

Bayanat is a prime example of why 
investors should be interested in 
UAE firms and stocks. Over the past 
year, Bayanat's revenue grew by %47 
to reach AED 1.16 billion, while the 
total net profit increased by %15 to 
reach AED 232 million. In 2023 also, 
Bayanat continued to improve its 
strong balance sheet position with 
asset acquisitions, laying a strong 
foundation for sustainable, future 
revenue growth across existing and 
new areas of business. 

THE RISE OF ARTIFICIAL 
INTELLIGENCE (AI) 

THE CREATION OF 
AN AI-POWERED SPACETECH 
CHAMPION

THE FOUNDATIONS OF 
BAYANAT’S SUCCESS

THE UNWAVERING SUPPORT OF 
OUR INVESTORS

Contributing to boosting investor 
confidence was our majority 
shareholder, G42. A key enabler in 
the development of the UAE’s 
advanced technology and AI sector. 
Through G42, as well as its network 
of highly specialized portfolio 
companies, and of course, 
partnerships with leading 
international firms, such as 
Microsoft, OpenAI and Cerebras, the 
UAE continued to reinforce its 
position as a global AI leader in 
2023.
 
Echoing His Excellency Omar Al 
Olama, the Minister of State for 
Artificial Intelligence’s recent 
sentiments, at Bayanat we believe 
that the UAE will continue to 
become an important key global hub 
for the development and regulation 
of the most cutting-edge AI 
technologies. As a result, we firmly 
believe that through the sheer 
proximity and access to this 
conducive environment, Bayanat will 
be able to accelerate its own growth 
and business objectives in the form 
of ongoing collaboration and 
knowledge sharing. 
 

With a deep-rooted understanding 
by the UAE’s leadership of the 
potential that AI holds, the country 
is uniquely positioned to create a 
technology powerhouse that 
extends well beyond its frontiers. 

The announcement that was 
therefore most pertinent was that of 
the proposed merger between 
Bayanat and Yahsat to establish 
SPACE42. This important merger 
demonstrates our commitment to 
being a leader in the industry now 
and in the years ahead. While 
merging two successful entities can 
come with its challenges, it provides 
a unique opportunity for global 
growth and to demonstrate 
leadership in the UAE. 

Having proven to work well together 

Contributing to boosting investor 
confidence was our majority 
shareholder, G42. A key enabler in 
the development of the UAE’s 
advanced technology and AI sector. 
Through G42, as well as its network 
of highly specialized portfolio 
companies, and of course, 
partnerships with leading 
international firms, such as 
Microsoft, OpenAI and Cerebras, the 
UAE continued to reinforce its 
position as a global AI leader in 
2023.
 
Echoing His Excellency Omar Al 
Olama, the Minister of State for 
Artificial Intelligence’s recent 
sentiments, at Bayanat we believe 
that the UAE will continue to 
become an important key global hub 
for the development and regulation 
of the most cutting-edge AI 
technologies. As a result, we firmly 
believe that through the sheer 
proximity and access to this 
conducive environment, Bayanat will 
be able to accelerate its own growth 
and business objectives in the form 
of ongoing collaboration and 
knowledge sharing. 
 

With a deep-rooted understanding 
by the UAE’s leadership of the 
potential that AI holds, the country 
is uniquely positioned to create a 
technology powerhouse that 
extends well beyond its frontiers. 

The announcement that was 
therefore most pertinent was that of 
the proposed merger between 
Bayanat and Yahsat to establish 
Space42. This important merger 
demonstrates our commitment to 
being a leader in the industry now 
and in the years ahead. While 
merging two successful entities can 
come with its challenges, it provides 
a unique opportunity for global 
growth and to demonstrate 
leadership in the UAE. 

Contributing to boosting investor 
confidence was our majority 
shareholder, G42. A key enabler in 
the development of the UAE’s 
advanced technology and AI sector. 
Through G42, as well as its network 
of highly specialized portfolio 
companies, and of course, 
partnerships with leading 
international firms, such as 
Microsoft, OpenAI and Cerebras, 
the UAE continued to reinforce its 
position as a global AI leader in 
2023.
 
Echoing His Excellency Omar Al 
Olama, the Minister of State for 
Artificial Intelligence’s recent 
sentiments, at Bayanat we believe 
that the UAE will continue to 
become an important key global 
hub for the development and 
regulation of the most cutting-edge 
AI technologies. As a result, we 
firmly believe that through the 
sheer proximity and access to this 
conducive environment, Bayanat 
will be able to accelerate its own 
growth and business objectives in 
the form of ongoing collaboration 
and knowledge sharing. 
 

With a deep-rooted understanding 
by the UAE’s leadership of the 
potential that AI holds, the country 
is uniquely positioned to create a 
technology powerhouse that 
extends well beyond its frontiers. 

The announcement that was 
therefore most pertinent was that 
of the proposed merger between 
Bayanat and Yahsat to establish 
Space42. This important merger 
demonstrates our commitment to 
being a leader in the industry now 
and in the years ahead. While 
merging two successful entities can 
come with its challenges, it provides 
a unique opportunity for global 
growth and to demonstrate 
leadership in the UAE. 

in the past, our goal is to bring 
significant value to both sets of 
stakeholders as we evolve with the 
rapidly changing dynamics of the 
industry. AI has functioned as a vital 
part of our business, and SPACE42 
enables us to target a wider range 
of sectors and customers through 
an expanded geographic footprint. 
We can create entirely new 
AI-powered solutions while also 
delivering significant benefits to the 
customers and economies we serve.

Under the leadership of Hasan Al 
Hosani and his executive team, 
Bayanat was in a strong position to 
grow in both our home market, the 
UAE, and internationally, despite a 
sluggish world economy. Globally, 
attention and development in key 
sectors such as space, defense, 
ocean exploration, and AI amplified 
our company's strengths as the 
team generated product demand 
within our four main segments: 
Smart Geospatial Solutions (SGS), 
Smart Operations Solutions 
(SOPS), Smart Space Solutions 
(SPAS), and Smart Mobility 
Solutions (SMOS).

Over the past twelve months, 
Bayanat strategically positioned 
itself as a leader of AI-powered 
geospatial intelligence solutions. 
Through our technological 
developments and strategic 
partnerships, we continued to 
deliver a diverse range of 
products and services spanning 
industries. Most notably this past 
year, our gIQ platform, the 
foundation powering our 
activities across all segments, 
promoted a collection of 
cutting-edge solutions to 

Contributing to boosting investor 
confidence was our majority 
shareholder, G42. A key enabler in 
the development of the UAE’s 
advanced technology and AI 
sector. Through G42, as well as its 
network of highly specialized 
portfolio companies, and of 
course, partnerships with leading 
international firms, such as 
Microsoft, OpenAI and Cerebras, 
the UAE continued to reinforce its 
position as a global AI leader in 
2023.
 

Under the leadership of Hasan Al 
Hosani and his executive team, 
Bayanat was in a strong position 
to grow in both our home market, 
the UAE, and internationally, 
despite a sluggish world 
economy. Globally, attention and 
development in key sectors such 
as space, defense, ocean 
exploration, and AI amplified our 
company's strengths as the team 
generated product demand 
within our four main segments: 
Smart Geospatial Solutions (SGS), 
Smart Operations Solutions 
(SOPS), Smart Space Solutions 
(SPAS), and Smart Mobility 
Solutions (SMOS).

Over the past twelve months, 
Bayanat strategically positioned 
itself as a leader of AI-powered 
geospatial intelligence solutions. 
Through our technological 
developments and strategic 
partnerships, we continued to 
deliver a diverse range of 
products and services spanning 
industries. Most notably this past 
year, our gIQ platform, the 
foundation powering our 
activities across all segments, 
promoted a collection of 
cutting-edge solutions to 
government, 
government-affiliated, and private 
entities across sectors including 
energy, defense, transportation, 
space, and ocean exploration.

Bayanat is strongly integrated 
into everyday life in the UAE with 
the launch of our autonomous 
vehicles, enabling users to 
experience our AI expertise in 
action. Not only does our work 
enhance people's lives, but it 
supports national strategies to 
shift towards smart and 
sustainable public transport 
solutions and reinforce efforts to 
develop cities fit for the future. 
 
In the UAE and beyond, 
customers who engage with our 
technology will experience the 
digital efficiency enabled by our 
AI-led capabilities in areas such 
as data analysis, digital twin 
modeling, and cloud computing. 
Bayanat, along with other public 
entities, is focused on enhancing 
the UAE’s clean, safe, and 
well-managed society through 
innovative AI-technologies. 
Through all our endeavors, we 
remain committed to protecting 
our planet and the communities 
that we serve.

Finally, I extend my sincere 
appreciation to every investor for 
their ongoing trust, belief, and 
support in Bayanat. Together, as 
we continue to deliver on our 
vision, we remain committed to 
building a commercially focused 
ecosystem with AI at its 
foundation. 

It is a great pleasure to write to you 
as the Chairman of the Bayanat 
Board and to present you with our 
second annual report since our 
listing on the Abu Dhabi Securities 
Exchange (ADX). 

Throughout 2023, the world has 
been confronted with a variety of 
complex challenges. From a world 
economy that was showing 
better-than-expected, but slow 
growth, to a geopolitical 
environment filled with tensions, 
and the impact of severe weather 
events attributed to climate change. 
 
Against this backdrop, it is 
remarkable to see how strongly the 
United Arab Emirates (UAE) has 
performed – and that holds 
particularly true for the non-oil 
sector. In the first half of 2023 
alone, the country’s overall 
economy grew by 3.7 percent. 
Related to this growth, we see a 
strong appetite for local 
investments, reflecting our own 
experience as Bayanat shares were 
90x oversubscribed during its IPO 
on the ADX Market in the last 
quarter of 2022.

Bayanat is a prime example of why 
investors should be interested in 
UAE firms and stocks. Over the past 
year, Bayanat's revenue grew by 
47% to reach AED 1.16 billion, while 
the total net profit increased by 15% 
to reach AED 232 million. In 2023 
also, Bayanat continued to improve 
its strong balance sheet position 
with asset acquisitions, laying a 
strong foundation for sustainable, 
future revenue growth across 
existing and new areas of business. 
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2023 has been a strong year for 
Bayanat. Following the success of 
our first year as a publicly traded 
company on ADX we have 
established ourselves as a leading 
force in AI-powered geospatial 
solutions. As the world has rapidly 
welcomed the use of AI, our focus 
on development and innovation 
has pushed our products across 
industries and the globe. 

As we start 2024, all four of our 
segments, namely - Smart 
Geospatial Solutions (SGS), 
Smart Operations Solutions 
(SOPS), Smart Space Solutions 
(SPAS), and Smart Mobility 
Solutions (SMOS) - are 
performing as per plan and 
continue to play their part in 
Bayanat’s success story. This year, 
we will continue our policy of 
responsible and ethical 
development with active efforts 
towards sustainability.

efficacy. An example of this is our 
partnership with AIQ, a technology 
pioneer focused on driving 
AI-powered transformation across 
industries, to develop a 
ground-breaking software 
application that will optimize and 
automate the processes involved in 
moving drilling rigs. The Rig Move 
Optimization AI System by 
Bayanat, which has already 
completed a proof of concept, will 
revolutionize rig moves' complex 
logistics and operational challenges 
to increase efficiency, speed up 
processes and significantly reduce 
carbon emissions.

Bayanat is driving the revolution in 
how entities approach their 
operations, by providing customers 
the latest AI-powered innovative 
technological solutions which 
deliver both superior efficiency and 

Bayanat's strategic essence and 
unique advantage have become 
more pronounced over the last 
year, anchored in two significant 
strengths: unparalleled data 
acquisition and access, as well as 
the cultivation of the advanced 
AI-driven analytics platform, gIQ.

Embracing the surge in 
space-based data utilization, 
Bayanat has refined its high-tech 
data acquisition approach. This 

strategy not only broadens its 
spectrum of data sources, but also 
propels the company toward rapid 
expansion. The exclusive access to 
a vast array of geospatial data has 
enabled Bayanat to fine-tune its 
ability to derive meaningful insights 
from complex data sets with AI, 
greatly improving efficiency and 
the decision-making process.

The transformation of raw data into 
actionable insights through AI 
positions Bayanat to spearhead 
innovation and enhance efficiency 
across various operations. From 
optimizing processes, to detecting 
early signs of changes, the 
wide-ranging utility of Bayanat's 
AI-enabled gIQ platform 
transcends mere data analysis. It 
serves as a cornerstone for the 
development of bespoke, impactful 
solutions across diverse sectors, as 
demonstrated in Bayanat's four 
main business segments.

SMART OPERATIONS SOLUTIONS 
(SOPS)



SMART GEOSPATIAL SOLUTIONS 
(SGS) & SMART SPACE SOLUTIONS 
(SPAS)
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SMART MOBILITY SOLUTIONS 
(SMOS) 

SUSTAINABILITY AND 
GROWTH-FOCUSED R&D 

CREATING A SPACETECH 
CHAMPION 

WORKING CLOSELY WITH 
CUSTOMERS 

It fills us with pride when our 

customers tell us about the immense 

value, they have derived from our gIQ 

platform. At COP28 this year, 

alongside the UAE Space Agency, 

Bayanat officially launched the 

operational phase of its Geo-Spatial 

Intelligence Platform, gIQ and 

introduced our newest platform called 

AID, powered by AI and generative AI 

capabilities to support global disaster 

relief efforts. 

Through partnerships with companies 

such as Yahsat and ICEYE, we have 

successfully introduced commercial 

satellite imaging services to the 

Middle East.

Mira Aerospace, our joint venture with 

UAVOS, has perched itself as a global 

leader in High Altitude Pseudo 

Satellite (HAPS) technology. HAPS 

technology represents a unique class 

of unmanned aerial vehicles, 

specifically designed for sustained, 

uninterrupted earth surface 

monitoring and provides stable 

telecommunications networks, 

without being affected by situations 

on the ground. This past year, Mira 

Aerospace showcased its technology 

on a global stage at COP28 and 

during the Dubai and Singapore 

Airshows. On display was the HAPS 

ability to maintain a fixed position for 

long-term monitoring of the Earth’s 

surface and its engineering to remain 

airborne – all from the power of solar 

panels that allow for unlimited flight 

time.

We are proud to say that Bayanat has 

established itself as a leader in the 

new space economy. As we think 

about the future of space 

advancements, we see direct 

benefits between space 

infrastructure technology and 

improved geospatial data. We cannot 

understate how important our 

partnerships and developments are 

to the future of the company and 

society at large. 

As our strategy outlines, we have 

delivered sustainable, long-term 

shareholder value through 

innovation, research, and 

development. Our goal was to 

leverage new opportunities and 

solidify Bayanat’s leadership in the 

sustainability sector.

 

In the lead-up to 2023, we worked 

with OceanX and M42 on two major 

projects. These focused on 

integrating our platforms into marine 

observation and geospatial data 

cataloging. In 2023, we continued 

that partnership by announcing plans 

to develop a comprehensive map of 

the UAE’s Ocean environment. This is 

critical in allowing fisheries to create 

environmentally friendly fishing tools 

and methods.

Complementing our project with 

OceanX and helping us better 

understand the world’s oceans, 

Bayanat’s ambassador, Commander 

Abhilash Tomy, completed the 

Golden Globe Race in May of 2023. 

By taking water samples from four 

oceans - including the Indian, South 

Pacific, North and South Atlantic 

oceans, Bayanat and its partners 

were able to study the presence of 

microplastics in the open seas, 

understanding the environmental 

impacts of this growing issue.

Our Smart Mobility Solutions (SMOS) 

division continues to be 

transformational in the smart mobility 

sector. This division was born out of 

our strategy to develop new products 

in-house that have vertical and 

horizontal integration capabilities to 

our existing capabilities with a strong 

base provided by the use of our gIQ 

platform and AI capabilities. After 

years of development, TXAI, the UAE’s 

first autonomous ride-hailing service, 

currently sits at a fleet of 17 vehicles, 

including 3 ART’s, 8 TXAI’s and 6 Mini 

Robobuses. We also provide 15 

charging stations as part of the 

comprehensive service offering. Our 

solution covers the entire value chain 

of the services including Infrastructure, 

Command Centre and Operations 

architecture, Operating policies and 

procedures and the Ride hailing app.

In collaboration with The Integrated 

Transport Centre (ITC) and the 

Department of Municipalities and 

Transport (DMT), it is the MENA 

region's first autonomous ride-hailing 

service with routes on Yas Island, 

Saadiyat Island and downtown Abu 

Dhabi. We have tripled the partners 

we work with on hardware such as 

cars and sensors and launched a 

digital twin model to monitor and 

control our fleet - a demonstration of 

our geospatial and AI capabilities 

working seamlessly together. The 

implementation of this 

model has leapfrogged Abu Dhabi 

ahead on the list of advanced 

economies of the world with fully 

scalable and sustainable smart 

mobility services. This solution has 

potential across multiple areas beyond 

public transportation including 

industrial engineering, dangerous and 

hazardous operations and hi-tech 

manufacturing.

Ending the year, we announced the 

proposed merger of Bayanat and 

Yahsat, forming SPACE42, an 

AI-powered space technology 

champion with a global reach. 

Combining Bayanat’s expertise in 

AI-powered geospatial solutions with 

Yahsat’s status as the UAE’s flagship 

satellite solutions provider, SPACE42 

will provide an expanded scope of 

service offerings and vertical 

integration opportunities, enabling it 

to offer a differentiated value 

proposition, utilize economies of 

scale and improve profitability across 

the value chain. 

Through this transformative 

combination, SPACE42 will benefit 

from rapidly evolving market 

dynamics to capture regional and 

international opportunities in 

geospatial and mobility solutions, 

satellite communications, 

sustainability initiatives and business 

intelligence. The future is bright for 

SPACE42, as it becomes a global 

SpaceTech champion.

At COP28, we took the stage with 

our colleagues from G42 to 

showcase our ‘Trillion Bees’ 

campaign. This global movement 

raises awareness and drives behavior 

change to create a world where 

pollinators thrive, sustain healthy 

ecosystems, and secure the 

well-being of people and nature. Our 

technologies continue to provide the 

necessary technological solutions for 

a sustainable future. 

Applying our analytics and AI to data 

generated by our customers, Bayanat 

will continue to empower and create 

a competitive advantage for our 

clients with the ability to make 

informed decisions, based on 

AI-powered insights and analysis.

Our work with strategic partners led 

to the launch of the new Emergency 

Location Transmitter (ELT) testing 

process in partnership with the UAE’s 

National Search and Rescue Center, 

the General Civil Aviation Authority, 

and Etihad Airlines. It was a proud 

moment to see the UAE’s national 

carrier being one of the first airlines 

to adopt Bayanat's platform, 

digitizing the ELT testing process. 

The groundbreaking advancement 

marks a significant milestone in 

enhanced safety protocols within the 

global aviation industry and 

strengthens our leadership in this 

sector. 

We also partnered with Aerwins 

Technologies to unveil the Xturismo 

Hoverbike. This carbon fiber 

hoverbike enables access to 

hard-to-reach places and rough 

terrains, serving as an effective tool 

for search and rescue operations,  

disaster investigation, and geospatial 

mapping. It aims to deliver life-saving 

support in critical search and rescue 

operations. 

As we look forward to 2024 and 

beyond, we remain dedicated to 

delivering practical and 

groundbreaking solutions. By 

partnering with expert companies, 

we will elevate our products and 

services, build strong industry 

relationships, and provide 

cutting-edge, AI-powered 

technological solutions to our 

customers. 
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OVERVIEW

IN SUMMARY

2023 was a transformative year for Bayanat as we furthered 
our influence on the international geospatial intelligence 
industry.The year was marked by key industry partnerships, 
collaboration with major organizations, knowledge exchange, 
growth, and expansion.  

 

As we have moved into 2024, we are confident we can build 
on and exceed last year’s achievements. The creation of 
SPACE42 will be a significant industry milestone, putting us 
firmly on the map as a global space technology leader. 
Combining the best of both worlds from Bayanat and 
Yahsat will increase efficiencies, capture new markets, and 
add cutting-edge services to our portfolio. But most 
importantly, our priority will be to explore how we can use 
technology to make it a force for good. Specifically, how we 
can help navigate the world’s challenges and positively 
impact the environment and society at large. 

I want to take this opportunity to thank our Board of 
Directors, the Management Team, and all our employees, 
now numbering over 300, for their expertise and hard work, 
which enabled Bayanat to deliver such positive results. We 
would also like to thank our customers and partners for their 
continued trust in Bayanat.

Finally, I thank you, our shareholders, for your support and 
belief in us – together, we will take Bayanat to even greater 
heights in 2024 and beyond.

Managing Director
Hasan Al Hosani
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In 2023, the MENA region’s 
favorable economic conditions 
laid the foundations for regional 
governments to continue investing 
in macro strategies aimed at 
infrastructure and technology 
development. The UAE economy 
continued to expand in 2023, with 
a 3-year CAGR of 5.5% in gross 
domestic product (GDP) recorded 
from 2020 to 2023.

Many of those investments were 
focused on the AI sector. As a 
result, the MENA region is 
experiencing a remarkable surge 
in the size of the AI market. The 
market is estimated to be AED 63 
billion, with a forecasted 41% 
CAGR over 2023–2028. Supported 
by the recently adopted ‘National 
Strategy for Artificial Intelligence 
2031,’ the UAE continues to 
embrace AI's transformational 
potential, aiming to position the 
country at the forefront of AI 
innovation.

Following Bayanat’s successful 
listing in 2022, G42 remains a 
majority shareholder, providing 
Bayanat with access to G42’s 
expansive network of 
AI-specialized portfolio 
companies. 

In 2023, we created the Smart 
Space Solutions vertical business 
line, focusing on strategic 
commercial business 
opportunities. Pivoting our focus 
drove new capabilities, products, 

and services and strong growth 
across our business. In 
partnership with the UAE Space 
Agency, we announced during 
COP28 the launch of the 
operational phase of the two 
entities’ Geo-Spatial Analytics 
Platform.

As a further milestone in our 
growth trajectory, we announced, 
on 19 December 2023, a 
proposed merger with Al Yah 
Satellite Company P.J.S.C 
(Yahsat), the UAE’s leading 
satellite operator. The merger is 
set to create a MENA 
region-based AI-powered space 
technology champion. The new 
consolidated organization will be 
vertically integrated and 
optimally positioned to capture 
regional and international 
opportunities in geospatial and 
mobility solutions, satellite 
communications, and business 
intelligence. 

With a strengthened financial 
position, enhanced AI-powered 
technological capabilities, and a 
diversified product portfolio, the 
merger will establish a platform 
for transformative technologies to 
enable space-based services with 
significant impact on societies 
and economies. Benefits from 
considerable revenue synergies 
and economies of scale will 
position the merged organization 
for innovation and profitable 
growth.
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REVENUES

+47%
Total revenue growth 
YoY in 2023

+91%
SOPS revenue growth 
YoY in 2023

CONSOLIDATED REVENUES AED mn

REVENUES BY SEGMENTS AED mn REVENUE MIX BY SEGMENT

2022 202320212020

248

367

1,160

788

788

1,160

2022

29%

28%
34%

48%

9%

15%

37%

SGS SMOS SOPS SPAS SGS SMOS SOPS SPAS

2022 2023

266

230

292

788

2023

324

101

558

 47%

177

The diversified activities portfolio 
enabled it to balance cyclical 
effects and maintain continuous 
revenue growth.

Our total revenues increased 47% 
year over year to AED 1,160 million 
in 2023, maintaining a 
considerable growth trend over 
the past years. With revenues 
growing at a compound annual 
growth rate of 67% from 2020 to 
2023, we continued to enhance 
our AI capabilities, improve 
product and service offerings, and 
extract synergies across the G42 
ecosystem.

Strong top-line performance 
reflected our continued 
transformation from a niche 
mapping specialist into a 
diversified technology business 
with industry-leading expertise in 
AI-powered geo-intelligence, data 
analytics, and innovative 
operations solutions for a diverse 
customer base.

The Smart Operations Solutions 
(SOPS) segment’s revenues 
showed strong growth of 91% YoY 
to reach AED 558 million, 
comprising 48% of our 
consolidated revenues (vs. 37% in 
2022). The growth was driven by 
a growing customer base and a 
strong increase in the data we 
were able to draw upon to 
address customers’ various 
operational requirements.

The Smart Geospatial Solutions 
(SGS) segment generated 22% 
YoY higher revenues to reach 
AED 324 million, which 
accounted for 28% of our 
company’s consolidated topline 
(vs. 34% in 2022).

The Smart Mobility Solutions 
(SMOS) segment generated 
revenues of AED 101 million, 
which accounted for 9% (vs. 29% 
in 2022) of our consolidated 
top-line. This shift in revenue 
contribution reflects the move of 
the project into the maintenance 
and support phase in 2023. 
However, we continue to work on 
developing the next phase of 
smart mobility services with 
potential to enhance revenue 
and margins further.

The Smart Space Solutions 
(SPAS), our newest segment, 
generated AED 177 million in 
revenues, which accounted for 
15% of the consolidated topline.

AED 
1160mn
Total revenue in 2023
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GROSS PROFIT

+11%
growth YoY in 2023

GROSS PROFIT MIX BY SEGMENTS

20232022

11%

28%

61%

16%

41%

41%

GROSS PROFIT BY SEGMENTS AED mn

2022 2023

146

146

55

 11%

355

37

89

194

319

EBITDA

8

EBITDA in 2023

EBITDA AND EBITDA MARGIN PERFORMANCE AED mn

2020 2021

Revenue, AED mn

2022 2023

248

31%

367

788

1,160

29%

27% 19%

EBITDA margin

2%

Our gross profit grew 11% YoY to 
reach AED 355 million in 2023. This 
evolution was attributable to the 
increased size of the average 
customer contract. Simultaneously, 
we moved from a project-based 
model to a product-based 
approach, a strategy that will 
ensure improved quality, execution, 
and delivery, as well as deeper 
customer relations. 

The SOPS business's gross profit 
increased Year over Year to AED 55 
million; however, the segment's 
gross margin fell 2.6pp Year over 
Year to 9.9%, reflecting a lower 
margin of large contracts executed 
last year amid higher subcontract 
costs.

Our EBITDA reached AED 220 
million. Indirect costs remained 
under control and outperformed 
industry benchmarks. At the same 
time, we invested in talent 
acquisition, R&D implementation 
of a product strategy, and new 
organizational processes.

The SGS segment generated a 
gross profit of AED 146 million, 
which accounted for 41% of our 
consolidated topline in 2023 (vs. 
61% in 2022).

Revenue reduction and the 
transition to completion of the 
projects in SMOS segment 
activities resulted in a 90% 
Year-over-Year decrease in the 
segment’s gross profit to AED 8 
million.

This was balanced by the new 
SPAS segment, which delivered 
AED 146 million gross profit.

AED 
220mn

SGS SMOS SOPS SPASSGS SMOS SOPS SPAS
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NET INCOME

+15%
Net income growth YoY
in 2023

Net finance income 
in 2023

NET INCOME PERFORMANCE

2022 202320212020

70

96

232

202

Net income, AEDmn Net margin

BALANCE SHEET AND CASH

AED 
762mn
Cash and bank balances 
as of end of 2023

CASH BALANCE AS OF YEAR END, AED mn LIQUIDITY RATIOS

2020 2021

Current Ratio Cash Ratio

Cash and cash equivalents

Term deposits with original
maturities more than 3M

2022 2023

3.6

820
762

2.1

1.3

500500

320 262

57
19

0.8

2.7

1.2

0.3
0.1

 40x

2020 2021 2022 2023

Our net income grew 15% YoY to 
reach AED 232 million.

Net income includes AED 25 
million net finance income (vs. 
AED 1 million net finance cost in 
2022) from our investment 
proceeds. Our investments are 
always Shari'a compliant.

We had a robust cash position of 
AED 762 million. 

Our strong cash generation and 
liquidity position enabled us to 
operate without external debt 
financing. During the year, we fully 
repaid AED 58 million of loans 
from related parties. We are now 
debt-free, which, combined with a 
strong cash position, provides the 
company with strong leverage for 
future organic and inorganic 
growth.

Trade and other payables 
amounted to AED 613 million (vs. 
AED 311 million as of the end of 
2022) in line with increased 
operations.

AED 
25mn

26%

26% 20%

28%
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CASH FLOW PERFORMANCE 2023, AED mn
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-9 0

500 762

AED 
134mn
Net operating cash flow

in 2023

AED 
213mn
Capital expenditures

in 2023

30

BAYANAT 
INTEGRATED 

REPORT 2023

We generated net cash flow from 

operating activities of 134 million 

in 2023, compared with AED 108 

million in 2022. Solid operating 

cash flow generation came on the 

back of robust EBITDA and net 

income dynamics in 2023.

We invested strongly in our future 

with capital expenditures reaching 

AED 213 million. These capital 

expenditures were mainly 

oriented toward initial Smart 

Space Solutions (SPAS) segment 

investments.

Net cash from financing activities 

was driven by the migration of the 

2022 IPO proceeds toward Islamic 

investments, in line with our 

Shari'a compliance.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
  

The Board of Directors of Bayanat 
AI PLC (“Bayanat” or the 
“Company”) provides strategic 
leadership and oversees the 
performance of the Company. The 
Board of Directors of the 
Company is composed of five (5) 
members, majority of whom are 
independent, non-executive 
members. 

HE Tareq Al Hosani
Chairman
Independent / Non-Executive

Mr. Xiaoping Zhang
Vice-Chairman
Non-Executive

HE Ahmed Al Kuttab
Member
Independent / Non-Executive

Mr. Hasan Al Hosani
Managing Director

Ms. Elham Al Qasim
Member
Independent / Non-Executive

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
 
The executive management of the 
Company oversees the 
day-to-day operations of the 
Company. 

Mr. Hasan Al Hosani
Managing Director

Mr. Abdulla Al Shamsi
Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Fan Zhu
Chief Technology Officer

Mr. Renyl Rauf
Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Ahmed Hadeed
General Counsel 

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE
 
The Board of Directors sets the 
strategic mandate with operational, 
financial, and sustainability goals 
relayed to management. The 
Executive Management team 
manages the achievement of these 
goals and the day-to-day 
operations. In executing the goals, 
the Executive Management team is 
supported by several corporate 
functions and local management 
and their teams. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
FRAMEWORK
 
The Company is a public company 
limited by shares incorporated in 
the Abu Dhabi Global Market 
(ADGM) and subject to the Abu 
Dhabi Global Market Companies 
Regulations 2020 (as amended) 
(“Companies Regulations”) and 
other applicable laws and 
regulations in the ADGM. The 
Company is committed to the 
principles of good corporate 

governance. The Board of Directors 
believes that good corporate 
governance practices align the interests 
of all stakeholders by having structures 
in place that ensure the business is 
managed with integrity and efficiency, 
thereby maximizing the profitability 
and long-term value creation of the 
Company for all stakeholders. This 
Corporate Governance Report is 
intended to provide an overview of the 
Company’s corporate governance 
framework for the year ended 31 
December 2023.

The Company designed its corporate 
governance structure in compliance 
with its Articles of Association, the Abu 
Dhabi Securities Exchange (“ADX”) 
Listing Rules, the Companies 
Regulations, and other applicable laws, 
rules and regulations and international 
best practices (collectively 
“Governance Rules”). The corporate 
governance framework identifies the 
responsibilities of the Board of 
Directors, individual Directors, 
Committees of the Board, Executive 
Management, and the organization’s 
support and control functions.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
 
The Company’s governance framework 
is supervised by the Board of Directors. 
The Board of Directors is collectively 
responsible for the Company’s 
management and strategy. The tasks, 
responsibilities and procedures of the 
Board are set out in the Articles of 
Association, the Companies 
Regulations and the Board of Directors 

Charter. The Board has delegated 
the operational management of the 
business to the Executive 
Management, apart from certain 
reserved matters. 

Majority of the members of the 
Board of Directors are 
independent, non-executive 
Directors in compliance with the 
Governance Rules.  The 
appointment, retirement and 
re-election is governed by the 
Articles of Association of the 
Company and the Governance 
Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES
 
The Board of Directors has 
established two (2) Board level 
committees – Audit and Risk 
Committee and Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee. 

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee 
assists the Board in discharging its 
responsibilities relating to financial 
reporting, external and internal 
audits and controls, including 
reviewing and monitoring the 
integrity of our financial 
statements, reviewing and 
monitoring the extent of the 
non-audit work undertaken by 
external auditors, advising on the 
appointment of external auditors, 
overseeing the relationship with our 
external auditors, reviewing the 
effectiveness of the external audit 
process, and reviewing the 
effectiveness of our internal control 
review function. The ultimate 
responsibility for reviewing and 
approving the annual report and 
accounts remains with the Board. 
The Audit and Risk Committee will 
give due consideration to the 
applicable laws and regulations of 

the UAE, the ADGM, the SCA and 
the ADX.

Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee
The Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee assists the Board of 
Directors in setting and overseeing 
the nomination and remuneration 
policies in respect of the Board, 
any committees of the Board and 
senior management. In such 
capacity, it is responsible for 
evaluating the hiring of the 
Company’s Executive Management, 
evaluating the balance of skills, 
knowledge and experience of the 
Board and committees of the 
Board and, in particular, monitoring 
the independent status of the 
independent Directors. It is also 
responsible for periodically 
reviewing the Board’s structure and 
identifying, where relevant, 
potential independent candidates 
to be appointed as Directors or 
committee members as the need 
may arise. In addition, the 
Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee assists the Board in 
determining its responsibilities in 
relation to remuneration, including 
making recommendations to the 
Board on the Company’s policy on 
executive remuneration, setting the 
over-arching principles, parameters 
and governance framework of our 
remuneration policy and 
determining the individual 
remuneration and benefits package 
of the Executive Management. 

RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS IN 2023
 
The Company did not enter into 
any new related party 
transactions for the year ended 
31 December 2023, apart from 
related party transactions already 

disclosed in the financial 
statements of the Company.

VIOLATIONS COMMITTED BY 
THE COMPANY DURING 2023
 
The Company did not commit any 
violations with respect to the 
Governance Rules and other 
applicable regulations for the year 
ended 31 December 2023

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
 
The Governance Rules and the 
Company’s compliance policies 
require its employees and 
directors to disclose any conflicts 
of interest that may be actual, 
perceived or potential. The 
Company has developed a series 
of procedures for compliance with 
laws and internal policies 
regarding conflicts of interest 
management and mitigation. year 
ended 31 December 2023 internal 
policies regarding conflicts of 
interest management and 
mitigation. 

COMPANY POLICIES
 
In addition to the Governance 
Rules, the Company has 
supplemented its internal 
governance and compliance 
framework by adopting a number 
of internal policies and procedures 
that cover anti-bribery and 
corruption, anti-money laundering, 
conflict of interest, insider trading, 
ethics and compliance, sanctions 
and trade, and whistle-blowing 
and non-retaliation.

EMIRATISATION 
 
The Company’s group increased 
its Emiratisation rate from %30.26 
in 2022 to %32.58 in 2023.
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SHAREHOLDERS

The following table shows the 
shareholders whose ownership 
exceeds 5% of the Company’s 
capital as on 31 December 2023:

% of Capital

Group 42 Holding LTD

Name of Shareholder

International Tech Group – Sole Proprietorship LLC

77%

15%

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The following table shows the 
services provided by the external 
auditor during 2023 and the fees 
charged for these services:

Deloitte & Touche (M.E.)

Number of Years as Auditor for the Company

Name of Audit Firm

Fees for the financial year ended 31 December 2023

3

AED 570,000
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3. SUSTAINABILITY
AND ESG

3.1 BAYANAT AT COP28

3.2 RAISING SOCIAL AWARENESS

3.3 SUSTAINABLE SOLUTIONS AND TECHNOLOGIES

3.4 INITIATIVES FOR SOCIAL GOOD

3.5 DIVERSITY AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

3.6 TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

3.7 GOVERNANCE
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OUR COMMITMENT TO 
SUSTAINABILITY AND ESG

BAYANAT AT COP28 

BENEFITS TO OUR 

SUSTAINABILITY

38

RAISING SOCIAL AWARENESS

Bayanat is fully committed to 
addressing global challenges, 
including climate change, social 
inequality, and ethical 
governance. We are dedicated to 
creating value for our 
stakeholders through innovative 
sustainability technologies, 
collaborative partnerships, and 
responsible governance practices, 
all while positively impacting the 
planet and society.

Our approach encompasses 
pursuing eco-friendly solutions 
and actively participating in 
initiatives that enhance 
sustainability awareness. This 
commitment is aligned with key 
frameworks like the UAE's Net 
Zero 2050 Strategy and the 
United Nations' Sustainable 
Development Goals. Beyond 
environmental efforts, our 
dedication to social responsibility 
is integral to our
company culture.  

We promote diversity, equity, and 
inclusion within our workforce and 
extend our reach to positively 
impact local communities through 
various initiatives serving the 
public good. 

During the annual United Nations 
Climate Change Conference, 
COP28, hosted in Dubai, Bayanat 
positioned itself as a beacon of 
innovation and leadership in 
sustainable development. 

We marked our participation by 
launching our cutting-edge 
predictive geospatial intelligence 
capabilities, gIQ, and AID 
platforms. These platforms 
leverage space data and AI 

bee and pollinator populations, 
with Bayanat providing 
AI-enhanced geospatial analytics 
to bolster conservation efforts. 
Through this campaign, we aspire 
to inspire collective action 
towards re-establishing the 
equilibrium of nature.

technologies to address global 
climate and environmental 
challenges. Their development 
reinforces our confidence in 
technology's power as a critical 
tool for environmental monitoring 
and preservation. 

We also supported the Trillion 
Bees campaign in collaboration 
with our colleagues from G42. 
This science-led movement aims 
to reverse the alarming decline of 

We also became a thought 
leader by sharing insights in the 
panel discussion "Could Data 
Save Our Oceans?" and 
co-organized "Hack4Climate: 
Space for Sustainability" with 
the UAE Space Agency. The 
Hackathon attracted more than 
50 experts, programmers, and 
researchers and incubated nine 
innovative solutions addressing 
various climate challenges, 
including water pollution, forest 
fires, flood monitoring, and 
vegetation management.

During COP28, we formed 
strategic partnerships with key 
stakeholders, including the UAE 
Space Agency, Ministry of 
Education, Ministry of Climate 
Change and Environment, 
Etihad Airways, and the UAE's 
National Search and Rescue 
Center. These collaborations 
leverage our analytical and 
artificial intelligence expertise 
across vital   
areas such as sustainability, 
aviation, and crisis and disaster 
response. We champion a 
unified approach among 
different sectors to achieve a 
sustainable and resilient future.  

In our unwavering journey 
towards achieving a sustainable 
future, we spearheaded several 
initiatives to raise social 
awareness about sustainability. 
We were involved in notable 
events, including the Golden 
Globe Race, Ocean Globe Race, 
Row Abu Dhabi, and swim62ae. 
We employed geospatial 
solutions and AI-driven models to 
enable precise navigation, 
real-time data analysis, and 
prediction capabilities to 
safeguard competitors. More 
importantly, we aspire to 
promote environmental 
sustainability and increase water 
safety awareness through these 
initiatives. 
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SUSTAINABLE SOLUTIONS 
AND TECHNOLOGIES

SUSTAINABILITY

As a global leader in geospatial and 
artificial intelligence, we are 
committed to using our technology 
as a catalyst for sustainable 
advancement. Our premier gIQ 
platform exemplifies this ethos, 
leveraging synergies between big 
data, data science, and space 
technologies to forge practical 
solutions to tackle sustainability 
challenges. Beyond gIQ, our 
commitment to sustainability is 
woven into the very fabric of our 
operations, guiding our efforts to 
deliver sustainable technologies 
and solutions across a broad 
spectrum of sectors, including 
mobility, energy, marine, and space. 

Mobility: 

To enhance transportation 
sustainability, Bayanat has forged 
strategic partnerships with key 
public-sector entities, including the 
ITC and the Department of 
Municipalities and Transport. We 
are also promoting electric vehicle 
adoption, having already 
established 15 charging stations as 
part of our pioneering efforts to 
develop a robust EV infrastructure.

Energy: 

Working with energy-sector 
partners, such as ANDOC and 
AIQ, Bayanat provides an 
innovative Rig Move AI System 
that automates the scheduling 
process and offers real-time 
updates on rig logistics. A 
notable aspect of the system is 
its emphasis on minimizing the 
distance rigs need to travel 
between sites, a strategy 
expected to substantially lower 
carbon emissions across the rig 
fleet. 

Marine: 

In 2023, Bayanat embarked on 
an important collaboration with 
the Environment Agency—Abu 
Dhabi (EAD), OceanX, and 
M42. This partnership aims to 
gather data related to fisheries 
and biodiversity, enhance 
marine exploration, and bolster 
marine conservation by 
employing advanced marine 
research technologies aboard 
vessels. 

Space: 

Bayanat's joint venture with 
UAVOS, Mira Aerospace, 
establishes our prominence as a 
global leader in High-Altitude 
Pseudo-Satellite (HAPS) 
technology. Unlike conventional 
satellites, HAPS offers unique 
advantages such as using solar 
power, reducing energy 
requirements during operation, 
and lessening space debris. 
Additionally, HAPS technology 
contributes to the sustainability 
agenda by monitoring 
environmental changes and 
substituting ground-based 
communication infrastructure. 

INITIATIVES FOR SOCIAL GOOD DIVERSITY AND 
EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Through our strategic partnership 
with the UAE Space Agency and 
innovative use of technology, we 
have emerged as a key player in 
humanitarian aid and disaster relief. 
Integrating our gIQ product, 
cutting-edge AI, and leadership in 
geospatial data utilization 
showcases our revolutionary 
technology in enhancing disaster 
management—from prevention and 
preparedness to response and 
recovery.

Turkey-Syria Earthquake 
(Feb 2023): 

This catastrophe marked our first 
contribution to the International 
Charter for Space and Major 
Disasters. Using our gIQ platform's 
capabilities, we supported the 
identification of collapsed 
structures and assessed the 
damage to vital infrastructure, 
including the Ataturk Dam.

Morocco Earthquake (Sep 2023): 

We played a pivotal role in 
post-earthquake analysis, damage 
 

assessment, detection of landscape 
alterations, and identification of 
other crucial factors vital in 
developing strategies for efficient 
relief and rescue operations. 

Libya flood (Sep 2023): 

Following a devastating tidal wave 
in Derna, our gIQ platform was 
rapidly deployed, enabling swift 
mapping of the disaster area. This 
facilitated the identification of 
demolished infrastructure and 
buildings, providing essential data 
that informed the decisions of aid 
organizations.

These examples illustrate 
geospatial analysis's vital 
importance and tangible benefits in 
crisis management. The gIQ 
platform enables a faster and more 
informed response, significantly 
reducing the time to deliver aid and 
resources. Furthermore, geospatial 
analysis plays a critical role in 
assessing the severity of damage 
and prioritizing rescue and 
recovery operations based on 
real-time data.  

We are committed to nurturing local 
talent, including UAE Nationals, 
through initiatives like employment 
prospects and competency training. 
Investing in the UAE's exceptional 
talent fosters personal growth and 
strengthens our organization. We 
proudly employ UAE Nationals across 
diverse functions, aligning with the 
Ministry of Human Resources and 
Emiratization regulations.

We have established an Emirati Youth 
Council to empower and nurture 
young Emirati talent in line with our 
commitment to Emiratization. As an 
objective of the council, we provide 
platforms for Emirati Youth to voice 
their ideas and concerns, actively 
involving them in decision-making 
processes. We prepare them to 
become future leaders in Space & AI 
through tailored programs and 
mentorship opportunities.

In 2023, our team comprised 37 
nationalities, enriching our culture 
and expanding our global outlook. 
We leverage this varied expertise and 
global perspective to drive business 
excellence.
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TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT GOVERNANCE

We recognize employee training 
and development as pivotal for 
organizational growth and 
employee satisfaction. In 2023, our 
employees collectively completed 
3,112 hours of training, combining 
online training programs through 
Coursera with themed sessions 
through our partners. These 
programs are designed to arm our 
employees with vital skills for 
personal and professional growth, 
improve job performance, and 
increase job satisfaction.

In today's dynamic business 
landscape, governance and 
compliance are paramount to 
ensuring organizational 
sustainability and fostering 
stakeholder trust. We are deeply 
committed to upholding the 
highest standards of corporate 
governance and ensuring business 
continuity amidst various 
challenges and opportunities.

▪ ISO 9001:2015: Quality 
Management System Certification 
ensuring consistent delivery of 
high-quality products and 
services.

▪ ISO 45001:2018: Occupational 
Health and Safety Management 
System Certification 
demonstrating our commitment 
to employee health and safety.

▪ ISO 14001:2015: Environmental 
Management System Certification 
showcasing our dedication to 
sustainable environmental 
practices.

▪ ISO 22301:2019: Business 
Continuity Management System 
Certification highlights our 
resilience in disruptions.

▪ NSEMA 7000: We were the first 
private company to obtain this 
certification, reflecting our 
exceptional commitment to national 
security and emergency 
management standards.

▪ Enterprise Risk Management: We 
implement robust risk management 
processes to identify, assess, and 
mitigate potential risks.

▪ Code of Conduct Policy: We have 
developed guidelines that outline 
the ethical behavior and 
professional conduct we expect 
from all employees.

▪ Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy: 
We have implemented measures to 
promote integrity across our 
business areas and prevent bribery 
and corruption.

▪ Conflict of Interest Policy: We have 
initiated protocols to manage and 
disclose potential conflicts of 
interest while maintaining 
transparency and fairness.

▪ Ethics and Compliance Policy: We 
have developed a framework of 
principles and standards that we 
expect for ethical behavior and 
regulatory compliance within the 
organization.

41

SUSTAINABILITY
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DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors of the Group has been formed 
on 10 November 2022.

H.E. Tareq Abdul Raheem Al Hosani   

H.E. Ahmed Tamim Hisham Al Kuttab    
Mrs. Elham Abdulghafoor Alqasim  
Mr. Waheed Hassan Alzaaki 

(effective till 25 August 2023) 

 

Mr. Hasan Ahmed Al Hosani 
(effective since 25 August 2023) 

RELEASE
The Directors release the management and the external 
auditor from any liability in connection with their duties 
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

AUDITORS

willingness to be re-appointed as external auditor of the 
Group for the year ending 31 December 2024.

H.E. TAREQ ABDUL RAHEEM AL HOSANI 
 

The Directors have the pleasure in submitting their 
report, together with the audited consolidated 
financial statements of Bayanat AI PLC (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for 
the year ended 31 December 2023.

The principal activity of the Company is to act as a 
holding company for the entities within the Group. 
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are data 
classification & analysis services, technological 
projects management, innovation & artificial 
intelligence research & consultancies, data collection 
from one or more sources, data storing and 
recovering, computer devices and equipment 
domain consultancy, air photography, survey 
planning, air photography and information 
management systems engineering consultancy, work
measurement and space, information technology 
network services, marine survey engineering 
consultancy, maps and drawings copying services, 
typing and documents photocopying services, 
computer systems and software designing, 
geographical maps drawing, book publication, maps 
and atlas printing, onshore and offshore oil and gas 
fields and facilities services, unmanned aerial vehicle 
(drone) services and research and experimental 
development on natural sciences and engineering, 
proprietary investments, airplanes manufacturing 
and aircrafts parts and accessories manufacturing.

So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant 
audit information of which the Company’s auditor is 
unaware and they have taken all the steps that they 
ought to have taken as Directors in order to make 
ourselves aware of any relevant audit information and 
to establish that the Company’s auditor are aware of
that information.

Revenue and profit for the year ended 31 December 
2023 amounted to AED 1,159,600,017 (2022:
AED 788,344,956) and AED 232,378,864 (2022: AED 
202,292,344), respectively. The movement in
retained earnings for the year is as follows:

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

RESULTS

AED

236,360,943

232,378,864

(20,630,805)

946,690

449,055,692

At 1 January 2023

Waiver of interest payable to 
a related party

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

Increase in statutory reserve 
of subsidiaries

At 31 December 2023
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BAYANAT AI PLC

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPINION

BASIS FOR OPINION

KEY AUDIT MATTER

We have audited the consolidated financial statements 
of Bayanat AI PLC (the “Company”), and its 
subsidiaries (together “the Group”) which comprise 
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2023, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS 
Accounting Standards) (IFRSs).

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of 
the current year. We have communicated the key 
audit matter to the Audit Committee, but it is not a 
comprehensive reflection of all matters that were 
identified by our audit and that were discussed with 
the Audit Committee. We have described the key 
audit matter we identified and have included a 
summary of the audit procedures we performed to 
address this matter.

The key audit matter was addressed in the context of 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on this matter.

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the consolidated financial statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the other 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the 
United Arab Emirates and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.



5049

BAYANAT 
INTEGRATED 

REPORT 2023

CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

OTHER INFORMATION 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND 
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Those charged with governance are responsible for 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Group earned revenue of AED 
1,159,600,017 during the year ended 31 
December 2023 (2022: AED 788,344,956).

Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognized when control over goods and 
services is transferred to a customer. The 
Group’s contracts with customers include 
various performance obligations. Revenue from 
certaincontracts is recognized over time whilst 
revenue from other contracts is recognized at a 
point in time. In addition, the Group has 
recognized revenue for contracts awarded 
which are in the process of being finalized at 
the reporting date.

The determination of revenue to be recognized
requires management to apply significant
judgements and make significant estimates. 
These include, in relation to contracts which 
were only partially fulfilled at the reporting 
date, determining the percentage of 
performance obligations completed at this 
date, and determining whether contracts 
awarded which are in the process of being 
finalized were contracts with customers as 
defined in IFRSs.

The nature of these judgements results in them
being susceptible to management override and
increases the risk of revenue being recognised 
in an incorrect period.

Given the magnitude of the amount and 
inherent risk of misstatement of revenue, we 
consider revenue recognition to be a key audit 
matter.

Refer to the following notes for more details 
relevant to revenue:
▪ note 3 for the accounting policy;
▪ note 4 for critical accounting judgements and 

key sources of estimation uncertainty; and
▪ note 18 for details of the amounts and types 

of revenue recognized during the year

We performed the following procedures in relation to
revenue recognition:

▪ We obtained an understanding of the revenue business 
process flow and performed walkthroughs to understand 
the key processes and identify key controls;

▪ We assessed the key controls over revenue to determine if 
they had been designed and implemented appropriately 
and tested these controls to determine if they were 
operating effectively;

▪ We performed substantive testing of selected samples of 
revenue transactions recorded during the year by 
reviewing relevant agreements, invoices, customer 
acceptance certificates, and determined that transactions 
were recorded in accordance with the substance of the 
relevant agreements;

▪ For material contracts identified, we have reviewed the 
contract terms and verified assumptions made in 
determining the amount of revenue to be recognised, 
including consideration of discounts, performance penalties 
and other cost implications of the contract;

▪ For material contracts with multiple performance 
obligations identified, we have reviewed management’s 
assessment of distinct performance obligations in the 
contract and the allocation of the total contract price to 
each performance obligation.

▪ For revenue recognised based on contracts awarded which 
are in the process of being finalized, we have selected 
samples and inspected customer acceptance certificates 
and other related supporting documentation to determine 
the amount of revenue recognized.

▪ We reviewed management’s assessment of contracts 
awarded which are in the process of being finalised to 
determine if these met the definition of contracts with 
customers as defined in IFRSs;

▪ We performed analytical procedures by comparing the 
gross margins for the different types of revenue streams to 
the prior year. If we identified an unexpected margin, we 
carried out more focused testing on these revenue streams;

▪ We performed procedures to assess whether the revenue 
recognition criteria adopted by the Group is appropriate 
and is in accordance with the Group accounting policies 
and the requirements of IFRSs; and

▪ We assessed the disclosure in the consolidated financial 
statements relating to revenue recognition against the 
requirements of IFRSs.

Management is responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the 
Directors’ Report which we obtained prior to the 
date of the audit report. The other information does 
not include the consolidated financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements does not cover the other information 
and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the 
other information that we obtained prior to the date 
of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

Management is responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs and their 
presentation in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of the articles of association of the 
Company and Abu Dhabi Global Market (“ADGM”) 
Companies Regulations 2020, Companies 
Regulations (International Accounting Standards) 
Rules 2015, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
management is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or taken together, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken based on these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also:
▪ Identify and assess the risks of material 

misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risk, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than the one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omission, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.

▪ Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the internal control.

▪ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management.

▪ Conclude on the appropriateness of 
management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS
Further, as required by the provisions of the Abu Dhabi 
Global Market (“ADGM”) Companies Regulations
2020 and Companies Regulations (International 
Accounting Standards) Rules 2015, we report that:

• the consolidated financial statements of the Group 
have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the said Rules and Regulations;

• adequate accounting records have been kept by the 
Group; and

• the Group’s consolidated financial statements are in 
agreement with the accounting records

MONAH ADNAN ABOU ZAKI 
Partner
7 February 2024

Abu Dhabi
United Arab Emirates

▪
▪ Conclude on the appropriateness of 

management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

▪ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that achieves fair presentation.

▪ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express 
an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with 
governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance 
with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those 
charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ 
report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the 
public interest benefits of such communication.
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ASSETS Notes 2023 AED 2022 AED

Non-current assets

Property and equipment 5 220,573,948

Intangible assets

Right-of-use assets

6

7

1,683,815

2,433,085

224,690,848

21,181,045

1,357,344

-

22,538,389

LIABILITIES

16

7

17

7,891,196

15,570,873

994,060

6,685,617

5,693,215

5,693,215

-

-

-

EQUITY

Share capital 257,142,857

Share premium 566,808,17214

14

Other reserves 42,000,483

Retained earnings 449,055,692

1,315,007,204

257,142,857

566,808,172

21,369,678

236,360,943

1,081,681,650

Current assets

Contract assets 9 662,915,894

Trade and other receivables 11 20,688,617

Due from related parties 12 282,203,291

Contract costs 10 4,646,098

Refundable deposits 8 24,828,420

Cash and bank balances 13 762,061,455

1,757,343,775

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables

Lease liabilities

Employees’ end of service benefits

Lease liabilities

17

Due to related parties 12

12

612,544,836 310,836,500

34,270,193

Loan from related parties

7

37,685,283

59,083,414

1,226,427

-

651,456,546

667,027,419

1,982,034,623

404,190,107

409,883,322

1,491,564,972

1,982,034,623

272,269,545

3,599,492

348,270,556

539,650

24,828,420

819,518,920

1,469,026,583

1,491,564,972

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023
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Notes 2023 AED 2022 AED

Revenue 18 1,159,600,017

Direct costs 19 (804,380,255)

355,219,762

General and administrative expenses 20 (149,375,155)

assets
9,11,12 429,286

Finance expenses 21 (3,941,249)

Finance income 21

13

13,085,741

16,214,838

4,401,042

-

Other income 745,641

22 232,378,864

Other comprehensive income for the year - -

232,378,864

26 0.09

788,344,956

(468,891,587)

319,453,369

(81,030,621)

(38,024,727)

(3,164,067)

657,348

202,292,344

202,292,344

0.10

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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Current 

account

Share Other 

reserves

At 1 January 

2022 
3,000,000 - - 197,000,000

capital

    AED    AED     AED     AED
    AED

    AED
    AED

1,500,000 53,938,277 255,438,277

Total 

comprehensive 

income for the 

year

- - -

- -

- -

- - -

Waiver of 
interest payable
to a related party
(Note 12)

Increase in share
capital (Note 15) 

At 1 January 

2023
257,142,857 - 21,369,678 236,360,943 1,081,681,650

Total 

comprehensive 

income for the 

year

-

-

- - -

-

- 232,378,864232,378,864

202,292,344 202,292,344

197,000,000

- -

(197,000,000)

20,630,805 (20,630,805) -

Increase in 

statutory reserve 

of a subsidiaries

Increase in 

statutory reserve 

of a subsidiary

- - - - - 946,690 946,690

- - - - 19,869,678 (19,869,678) -

Transfer to 

shareholders’ 

current account 
(200,000,000) 200,000,000 - - - - -

Issue of shares at 

inception
(Note 14) 

183,625 (183,625) - - - - -

Issue of new 

shares
(Note 14)

256,959,232 (199,816,375) 566,808,172

566,808,172

-

-

- - 623,951,029

2023
257,142,857 - 566,808,172 - 42,000,483 449,055,692 1,315,007,204

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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Notes 2023 AED 2022 AED

202,292,344232,378,864

12,238,375

833,943

105,786

3,929,633

11,616

(13,085,741)

(16,214,838)

(429,286)

3,024,686

6,341

222,799,379

(18,095,573)

(390,161,158)

(4,106,448)

16,049,233

307,987,793

3,415,090

137,888,316

(826,705)

(3,396,476)

133,665,135

(1,160,414)

14,106,388

16,611,559

1,972

(182,080,086)

490,957,486

442,542,535

319,518,920

762,061,455

49,551,207

946,690

(131,575)

(330,000)

500,000,000

(8,580,939)

(211,639,591)

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation of property and equipment

5 10,585,934

Amortisation of intangible assets

6

7

7

508,234

Finance expenses

Income from Wakala deposits

Impairment (gain)/loss, net of reversals, on financial and contract assets

Provision for employees’ end-of-service benefits

Loss on disposal of property and equipment

Interest on lease liabilities

21

21

13

3,164,067

Finance income (4,401,042)

-

-

-

-

-

9,11,12 38,024,727

16 2,488,327

252,662,591

Increase / (decrease) in trade and other receivables 5,437,944

Increase in contract assets (46,388,814)

Increase / (decrease) in contract cost 12,381,284

Decrease in refundable deposits 1,642,709

Decrease in inventories 253,621

Decrease / (increase) in due from related parties (300,515,217)

Increase in trade and other payables 165,507,414

Increase in due to related parties 18,285,332

Cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

109,266,864

16 (678,354)

Finance cost paid

Employees’ end-of-service benefits paid

(391,394)

Investing activities

Acquisition of property and equipment 5 (9,456,606)

Acquisition of intangible assets 6 (1,034,827)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Profit received on Wakala deposits

Finance income received

Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment

875,224

Proceeds from loan from related parties

Repayments of loans from related parties

Interest paid

40,213,875

Payment of lease liabilities

Proceeds on issue of shares, net of costs incurred 623,951,029

Term deposits placed with original maturities more than three months

12

12

12

14

7

(500,000,000)

Net cash generated from operating activities 108,197,116

Net cash used in investing activities (9,616,209)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 56,773,109

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 319,518,920

Loan from related party set-off with due from related parties 12 37,692,759

Waiver of related party interest payable 12 -

Non-Cash transactions

Proceeds of term deposits with original maturities more than three months

13

164,164,904

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 262,745,811
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(IFRS)

2.1. NEW AND REVISED IFRSs APPLIED WITH 
NO MATERIAL EFFECT ON THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Bayanat AI PLC (the “Company”) is registered in Abu 
Dhabi Global Market (ADGM) under license
number 000008474 as a Public Company Limited by 
Shares. The Company was incorporated on 28
September 2022 (the “inception date”). The 
registered address of the Company is Al Sarab 
Tower, ADGM Square, Al Maryah Island, Abu Dhabi, 
United Arab Emirates.

These consolidated financial statements include the 
financial performance, financial position and cash 
flows of the Company and its subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as the “Group”). Please refer 
note 3 for the list of subsidiaries. The Group’s parent 
company and controlling party is Group 42 Holding 
Ltd (the “Parent Company”), a private company 
registered in Abu Dhabi Global Market.

On 18 December 2023, the Board of Directors of 
Bayanat AI PLC approved the merger between the
Company and AI Yah Satellite Communications 
Company PJSC (Yahsat). The offer is subject to 
receipt of all related governmental approvals, 
including regulatory approvals by the Securities and 
Commodities Authority (SCA), as well as shareholder 
approvals. As at 31 December 2023, the transaction is 
not yet finalised.

Should an agreement be reached between the 
parties, a general assembly meeting would consider 
approving the transaction subsequent to the year 
end. At this time, there is no certainty that any 
transaction will occur.

The principal activity of the Company is to act as a 
holding company for the entities within the Group. 
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are data 
classification & analysis services, technological 
projects management, innovation & artificial 
intelligence research & consultancies, data collection 
from one or more sources, data storing and 

recovering, computer devices and equipment domain 
consultancy, air photography, survey planning, air 
photography and information management systems 
engineering consultancy, work measurement and 
space, information technology network services, 
marine survey engineering consultancy, maps and 
drawings copying services, typing and documents 
photocopying services, computer systems and 
software designing, geographical maps drawing, 
book publication, maps and atlas printing, onshore 
and offshore oil and gas fields and facilities services, 
unmanned aerial vehicle (drone) services and 
research and experimental development on natural 
sciences and engineering, proprietary investments, 
airplanes manufacturing and aircrafts parts and 
accessories manufacturing.

The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Abu 
Dhabi Stock Exchange (ADX) as from 31 October
2022.

There were no social contributions made during the 
financial year ended 31 December 2023.

 

The following new and revised IFRSs, which became 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023, have been adopted in these 
consolidated financial statements. The application of 
these revised IFRSs has not had any material impact 
on the amounts reported for the current and prior 
years but may affect the accounting for future 
transactions or arrangements.
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IFRS 17 Insurance
Contracts (including
the June 2020 and
December 2021
Amendments to IFRS 17)

Amendments to IAS 1
Presentation of
Financial Statements
and IFRS Practice
Statement 2 Making
Materiality
Judgements—
Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The Group has adopted IFRS 17 and the related amendments for the first time in the 
current year. IFRS 17 establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, 
presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts and supersedes IFRS 4 Insurance 
Contracts.

IFRS 17 outlines a general model, which is modified for insurance contracts with direct 
participation features, described as the variable fee approach. The general model is 
simplified if certain criteria are met by measuring the liability for remaining coverage 
using the premium allocation approach. The general model uses current assumptions to 
estimate the amount, timing and uncertainty of future cash flows and it explicitly 
measures the cost of that uncertainty. It takes into account market interest rates and the 
impact of policyholders’ options and guarantees.

The Group does not have any contracts that meet the definition of an insurance contract 
under IFRS 17.

The Group has adopted the amendments to IAS 1 for the first time in the current year. 
The amendments change the requirements in IAS 1 with regard to disclosure of 
accounting policies. The amendments replace all instances of the term ‘significant 
accounting policies’ with ‘material accounting policy information’. Accounting policy 
information is material if, when considered together with other information included in 
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions 
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of 
those financial statements.

The supporting paragraphs in IAS 1 are also amended to clarify that accounting policy 
information that relates to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions is 
immaterial and need not be disclosed. Accounting policy information may be material 
because of the nature of the related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the 
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information relating to 
material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material.

The IASB has also developed guidance and examples to explain and demonstrate the 
application of the ‘four-step materiality process’ described in IFRS Practice Statement 2.

Amendments to IAS
12 Income Taxes—
Deferred Tax related
to Assets and
Liabilities arising
from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to IAS
12 Income Taxes—
International Tax
Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

Amendments to IAS
8 Accounting Polices,
Changes in
Accounting Estimates
and Errors—
Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The group has adopted the amendments to IAS 12 for the first time in the current year. 
The amendments introduce a further exception from the initial recognition exemption. 
Under the amendments, an entity does not apply the initial recognition exemption for 
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. 
Depending on the applicable tax law, equal taxable and deductible temporary 
differences may arise on initial recognition of an asset and liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.

Following the amendments to IAS 12, an entity is required to recognise the related 
deferred tax asset and liability, with the recognition of any deferred tax asset being 
subject to the recoverability criteria in IAS 12.

The Group has adopted the amendments to IAS 12 for the first time in the current year. 
The IASB amends the scope of IAS 12 to clarify that the Standard applies to income 
taxes arising from tax law enacted or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two 
model rules published by the OECD, including tax law that implements qualified 
domestic minimum top-up taxes described in those rules.

The amendments introduce a temporary exception to the accounting requirements for 
deferred taxes in IAS 12, so that an entity would neither recognise nor disclose 
information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes.

Following the amendments, the Group is required to disclose that it has applied the 
exception and to disclose separately its current tax expense (income) related to Pillar 
Two income taxes.

The Group has adopted the amendments to IAS 8 for the first time in the current year. 
The amendments replace the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a 
definition of accounting estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are 
"monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement 
uncertainty". The definition of a change in accounting estimates was deleted.
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EFFECTIVE FOR ANNUAL PERIODS 

BEGINNING ON OR AFTER

1 JANUARY 2024

1 JANUARY 2024

1 JANUARY 2024

1 JANUARY 2024

1 JANUARY 2025

Effective date not yet
decided.

CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The above stated new standards and amendments 
are not expected to have any significant impact on
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

There are no other applicable new standards and 
amendments to published standards or IFRIC
interpretations that have been issued that would be 
expected to have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Amendment to IFRS 16 Leases — Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements — Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
— Lack of Exchangeability

Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures — Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

2.2. NEW AND REVISED IFRS IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET 
EFFECTIVE 
The Group has not yet applied the following new and 
revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 
effective:

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

prepared in accordance with the International Financial 

BASIS OF PREPARATION

prepared on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is 
generally based on fair value of the consideration given 
in exchange for goods and services. 

which is the functional currency of the Group.

On 29 September 2022, the Company entered 
into a Sale Agreement (the “Agreement”) with 
Group 42 Holding Ltd (the “Ultimate 
Shareholder”) for the transfer of shares of 
Bayanat GIQ PJSC (the “subsidiary”) that is 
beneficially owned and controlled by the Ultimate 
Shareholder. As per the agreement, the Ultimate 
Shareholder has transferred the entire economic 
interest in the subsidiary to the Company.

On 12 October 2022, the Company has completed 
the legal formalities in accordance with the Sales
Agreement (the “Agreement”) entered into with 
Ultimate Shareholder for issuing 1,998,161,764 
shares of AED 0.1 each to the Shareholder in lieu 
of 199,999,971 shares of AED 1 each of Bayanat 
GIQ PJSC (the “Subsidiary”).The aforementioned 
transfer of shares to the Company is a common 
control transaction as the subsidiary will continue 
to be controlled by the Ultimate Shareholder 
before and after the reorganization. Therefore, 
this reorganization is considered to be outside 
the scope of IFRS 3: Business Combinations.

 

The Company has applied the pooling of interest 
method of accounting for the reorganization.

The basic principle of accounting for business 
combinations under common control using the 
pooling of interest method is that the reorganization 
is without economic substance from the perspective 
of the controlling party and the combining parties are 
presented as if they had always been combined. To this 
effect, the Company accounts for the transaction from 
the beginning of the period in which the combination 
occurs, irrespective of its actual date and presents the 
comparatives to include all combining entities. 

The concept of pooling of interest is generally based on 
the premise of a continuation of the combining entities. 
Consequently, the pre-combination equity composition 
and history associated with the assets and liabilities 
would be carried forward upon the combination. In the
comparatives of the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity for the year ended 31 December 2023: 

• The share capital of the subsidiary being combined is 

• The retained earnings of the subsidiary being 

• The statutory reserves of the subsidiary being 

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

its subsidiary. Control is achieved when the Company:

• Has the power over the investee;
• Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee; and
• Has the ability to use its power to affects its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an 
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of 
control listed above.
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(a) Bayanat AI PLC has incorporated Mira Aerospace 
Ltd on 16 January 2023 as a fully owned 
subsidiary of Bayanat AI PLC. Mira Aerospace Ltd 
is registered in Abu Dhabi Global Market (ADGM) 
under license number 000009112 as a Private 
Company Limited by Shares. The principal activity 
of Mira Aerospace Ltd is unmanned aerial vehicle 
(drone) services and research and experimental 
development on natural sciences and engineering.

 
(b) On 17 January 2023 Bayanat AI PLC has 

incorporated a fully owned subsidiary Bayanat 
Investments Ltd registered in Abu Dhabi Global 
Market (ADGM) under license number 000009117 
as a Private Company Limited by Shares. The 
principal activity of Bayanat Investments Ltd is 
proprietary investment. The subsidiary is dormant 
and had no operations in the current year.

(c) On 19 June 2023 Mira Aerospace Ltd has 
incorporated a fully owned subsidiary Mira 
Aerospace Manufacturing registered under 
industrial license number IN-2005665 as a Sole 
Proprietorship L.L.C. The principal activity of Mira 
Aerospace Manufacturing are airplanes 
manufacturing and aircrafts parts and accessories 
manufacturing.

When the Company has less than a majority of the 
voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has 
power over the investee when the voting rights are 

relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The 
Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances 
in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights 

• The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights 
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the 
other vote holders;
• Potential voting rights held by the Company, other 
vote holders or other parties;
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; 
and
• Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate 
that the Company has, or does not have, the current 
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that 
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at 
previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company 
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 

the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of 

date the Company gains control until the date when the 
Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the 

bring the accounting policies used into line with the 
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, 

between the members of the Group are eliminated 
on consolidation.

separately from the Group’s equity therein. Those 
interests of non-controlling shareholders that are 
present ownership interests entitling their holders to 
a proportionate share of net assets upon liquidation 
may initially be measured at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the fair 

choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests 

are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to 

acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling 

interests is the amount of those interests at initial 
recognition plus the non-controlling interest’s share of 
subsequent changes in equity.

comprehensive income are attributed to the owners 
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. 
Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is 
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 
non-controlling interest even if this results in the non-

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that 
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s 
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted 

subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by 
which the noncontrolling interests are adjusted and 
the fair value of the consideration paid or received 
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the 
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the 

of the fair value of the consideration received and the 

less liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling 
interests. All amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary 
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed 

category of equity as required/permitted by applicable 

retained in the former subsidiary at the date when 
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial 
recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 
when applicable, or the cost on initial recognition of an 
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

GROUP STRUCTURE

its subsidiary as disclosed below:

OWNERSHIP INTEREST

NAME OF SUBSIDARY 2023 2022
COUNTRY OF 

INCORPORATION

PRINCIPAL 

ACTIVITIES

Bayanat GIQ PJSC

Mira Aerospace Ltd (a)

Bayanat Investments Ltd (b)

Mira Aerospace Manufacturing –
Sole Proprietorship L.L.C. (c) 

100% 100%

100% -

100% -

100% -

UAE REFER NOTE 1

UAE REFER NOTE 1

UAE REFER NOTE 1

UAE REFER NOTE 1

OPERATING SEGMENTS
Operating segments are reported in a manner 
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
Group’s executive management. 

An operating segment is a component of the Group 
that engages in business activities from which it may 
earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues 
and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the 
Group’s other components. All operating segments’ 
operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s 
executive management to make decisions about 
resources to be allocated to the segment and assess
its performance, and for which financial information is 
available (note 25). 

REVENUE RECOGNITION

the considerations, to which an entity expects to 
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods and 
services to customer, excluding amounts collected on 
behalf of third parties. The Group assesses its revenue 

is acting as principal or agent.

68
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delivering the promised goods or services it creates a 
contract-based asset on the amount of consideration 
earned by the performance. Where the amount of 
consideration received from a customer exceeds the 
amount of revenue recognised, this gives rise to a 
contract liability.

The Group recognises revenue from development of 

specialised business applications.

REVENUE RECOGNISED OVER TIME

DEVELOPMENT OF SOFTWARE AND ARTIFICIAL 
INTELLIGENCE SERVICES
The Group provides a service of developing, installation 

intelligence products for specialised business 
operations which are long term in nature. Such services 

over time. Revenue is recognised for these services 
based on the stage of completion of the performance 
milestones of the contract. 

The management has assessed that the stage of 
completion of performance milestones as at the end 
of the reporting period is an appropriate measure 
of progress towards complete satisfaction of these 
performance obligations under IFRS 15 - Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers. 

CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Payment for installation of software services is not due 
from the customer until the installation services are 
complete and therefore a contract asset is recognised 
over the period in which the installation services 
are performed representing the entity’s right to 
consideration for the services performed to date.

REVENUE RECOGNISED POINT IN TIME
In certain short-term contracts, as the transfer of control 
of a product or service to a customer is immediate, 
revenue is recognized as point in time. 

CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
The Group has determined that contract assets and 
liabilities are to be recognised at the performance 
obligation level and not at the contract level and both 

contract assets and liabilities are to be presented 

as current and non-current based on the timing and 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT
Items of property and equipment are stated at historical 
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any.

The cost of property and equipment is the purchase 
cost, together with any incidental expenses of 
acquisition. The cost of self-constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial 
estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling 
and removing the items and restoring the site on which 
they are located, and an appropriate proportion of 
production overheads.

SUBSEQUENT COSTS
The cost of replacing component of an item of property 
and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount 
of the item if it is probable that the future economic 

Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs 
of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment 

loss and other comprehensive income.

YEARS

Leasehold Improvements 5

3

Furniture and Fixtures

Motor vehicles

3

3

DEPRECIATION
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost 

their useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the 
following basis:

The estimated useful lives, residual values and 
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in 
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised 

expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. 
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of 
an asset is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset 

CAPITAL WORK-IN-PROGRESS
Expenditure incurred on property and equipment 
which are not complete and ready for use at the 
reporting date are treated as capital work-in-progress. 
Depreciation is not provided on such assets until they 
are ready for their intended use and transferred to the 
appropriate asset category. 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

INTANGIBLE ASSETS ACQUIRED SEPARATELY

LEASES

THE GROUP AS A LESSEE

acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated useful lives on the following basis:

The estimated useful life and amortisation method are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the 
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for 

useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses.

DERECOGNITION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS
An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, 

from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from 
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 

loss when the asset is derecognised.

YEARS

Computer Software and Licenses 3

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains 
a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding 
lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in
which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases 
(defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or 
less)and leases of low value assets. For these leases, 
the Group recognises the lease payments as an 
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease unless another systematic basis is 
morerepresentative of the time pattern in which 
economic benefits from the leased assets are 
consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present 
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted by using the rate 
implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental 
borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its 
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the 
lease liability comprise:

• fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed 
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or 
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at
the commencement date;
• the amount expected to be payable by the lessee 
under residual value guarantees;
• the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee 
is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if 
the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by 
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on 
the lease liability (using the effective interest 
method) and by reducing the carrying amount to 
reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes 
a corresponding adjustment to the related 
right-of-use asset) whenever:

• The lease term has changed or there is a significant 
event or change in circumstances resulting in a
change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase 
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option, in which case the lease liability is re-
measured by discounting the revised lease payments 
using a revised discount rate.
• The lease payments change due to changes in an 
index or rate or a change in expected payment under 
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease 
liability is re-measured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless 
the lease payments change is due to a change in a
floating interest rate, in which case a revise discount 
rate is used).
• A lease contract is modified and the lease 
modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, 
in which case the lease liability is re-measured based 
on the lease term of the modified lease by 
discounting the revised lease payments using a 
revised discount rate at the effective date of the 
modification.

The Group did not make any such adjustments during 
the periods presented.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial 
measurement of the corresponding lease liability, 
lease payments made at or before the 
commencement day, less any lease incentives 
received and any initial direct costs. They are 
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for 
costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore
the site on which it is located or restore the 
underlying asset to the condition required by the 
terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is 
recognised and measured under IAS 37.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter 
period of lease term and useful life of the right-of-use
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying 
asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects 
that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, 
the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the 
useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation 
starts at the commencement date of the lease.
The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate 
line in the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a 
right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss as described in the 
‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ policy.

An associate is an entity over which the Group has 
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary 
nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence 
is the power to participate in the financial and 
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not 
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the 
parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. 
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of 
control of an arrangement, which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require 
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or 
joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of 
accounting, except when the investment is classified 
as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in 
accordance with IFRS 5.

Under the equity method, an investment in an 
associate or a joint venture is recognised initially in 
the consolidated statement of financial position at 
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s 
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income of the associate or joint venture. When the 
Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint 
venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate 
or joint venture (which includes any long-term 
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s 
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the 
Group discontinues recognising its share of further 
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the 
extent that the Group has incurred legal or 
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf 
of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is 
accounted for using the equity method from the date 
on which the investee becomes an associate or a joint 
venture. On acquisition of the investment in an 
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of 
the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the 
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included 
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any 
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of 
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of 
the investment, after reassessment, is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the 
investment is acquired.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate 
are not included in the measurement the lease 
liability and the right-of-use asset. The related 
payments are recognised as an expense in the period 
in which the event or condition that triggers those 
payments occurs.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not 
to separate non-lease components, and instead
account for any lease and associated non-lease 
components as a single arrangement. The Group has 
not used this practical expedient. For a contract that 
contain a lease component and one or more 
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each 
lease component on the basis of the relative 
stand-alone price of the lease component and the 
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease 
components.

realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials 
and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those 

overheads that have been incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost 
is calculated using the weighted average cost method. 
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling 
price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to 
be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 

market assessments of the time value of money and the 

or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as 
a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 

is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable 
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been 

in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 

that it eliminates the impairment loss which has been 
recognised for the asset in prior years.

 

INVENTORIES
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net 

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATE AND JOINT VENTUREAt the end of each reporting period, the Group 
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets 
and intangible assets to determine whether there 
is any indication that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable 

corporate assets are also allocated to individual 
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated 
to the smallest Group of cash-generating units for 
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis 
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PROVISIONS
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 

event, it is probable that the Group will be required to 
settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best 
estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the reporting date, considering 
the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 

estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 

WARRANTIES
Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations 
under local sale of goods legislation are recognised 
at the date of sale of the relevant products, at the 
directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the Group’s obligation.

EMPLOYEES’ END-OF-SERVICE BENEFITS
An accrual is made for the estimated liability for 
employees’ entitlement to annual leave and leave 
passage as a result of services rendered by eligible 
employees up to the end of the year.  

A provision is also made for the full amount of end of 

accordance with the ADGM Employment Regulations 

2019, for their period of service up to the end of the 
year. The accrual relating to annual leave and leave 
passage is disclosed as a current liability, while the 

as a non-current liability.

Pension contributions are made in respect of UAE 
national employees to the UAE General Pension and 
Social Security Authority in accordance with the UAE 

loss during the employees’ period of service.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

 

is the functional and the presentation currency of

 

the Group. 

the Group, transactions in currencies other than the 

recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting 
period, monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that 
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was 
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured 
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated. Exchange differences on monetary items 

they arise except as otherwise stated in the Standards.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in 
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried 
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain 
or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held 

and translation differences on non-monetary assets 

other comprehensive income are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements. They are disclosed 
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent 
assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic 
benefits is probable.

CONTINGENCIES

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, 
the most advantageous market to which the Group has 

its non-performance risk. 

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and 
disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for 

When one is available, the Group measures the fair 
value of an instrument using the quoted price in an 
active market for that instrument. A market is regarded 
as active if transactions for the asset or liability take 

pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the 
Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the use 
of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of 
unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique 
incorporates all of the factors that market participants 
would consider in pricing a transaction.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid 
price and an ask price, then the Group measures assets 
and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short 
positions at an ask price.

instrument on initial recognition is normally the 
transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration 
given or received. If the Group determines that the fair 
value on initial recognition differs from the transaction 
price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a 
quoted price in an active market for an identical asset 
or liability nor based on a valuation technique for which 

instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted 
to defer the difference between the fair value on initial 
recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, 

appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no 
later than when the valuation is wholly supported by 
observable market data or the transaction is closed out.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and 

in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose 
of meeting short-term cash commitments rather for 
investment or other purposes. 

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash 

part of the Group’s cash.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

measured at fair value except for trade receivables 

which are measured at transaction price. Transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition 

FINANCIAL ASSETS

are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales 

the time frame established by regulation or convention 
in the marketplace. 

subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost 
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CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions  

are measured subsequently at amortised cost:

payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are measured subsequently at fair value through other 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

and 

payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Despite the foregoing, the Group may make the 
following irrevocable election / designation at initial 

• The Group may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if certain 

• The Group may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI 
criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 

 AMORTISED COST AND EFFECTIVE INTEREST RATE 
METHOD
The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 

points paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 

losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, 
or, where appropriate, a shorter period,

 

to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument

 

on initial recognition. For purchased or originated 

effective interest rate is calculated by discounting the 

losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition.

recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 

adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective 
interest method for debt instruments measured 
subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For 

calculated by applying the effective interest rate to 

have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest 
income is recognised by applying the effective interest 

subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the 

income is recognised by applying the effective interest 

assets, the Group recognises interest income by 
applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to 

recognition. The calculation does not revert to the 

longer credit-impaired.

DEBT INSTRUMENTS CLASSIFIED AS AT FVTOCI

FVTOCI. These instruments are initially measured at fair 

included in the "finance income" line item (note 21).
Income from Wakala deposits (note 13) is recognised 
in separate line item in profit or loss.

value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, changes in 
the carrying amount of these instruments as a result of 
foreign exchange gains and losses, impairment gains or 
losses and interest income calculated using the effective 

same as the amounts that would have been recognised 

at amortised cost. All other changes in the carrying 
amount of these instruments are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. When these instruments are 
derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are 

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS CARRIED AS AT FVTOCI
On initial recognition, the Group may make an 

as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted 
if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is 
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a 
business combination.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are 
initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 
recognized in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve.

or loss on disposal of the equity investments, instead, it 
is transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments 

9, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of 
part of the cost of the investment. 

The Group designated all investments in equity 
instruments that are not held for trading as at FVTOCI 
on initial recognition.

• It has been acquired principally for the purpose of 
selling it in the near term; or
• On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of 

together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of 

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being 
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at 

as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity 
investment that is neither held for trading nor a 
contingent consideration arising from a business 
combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.
• Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 

FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either 
the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may 
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if 

assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and 
losses on them on different bases. The Group has not 
designated any debt instruments as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value 
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value 

they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. 

and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected 

deposits, contract assets, due from related parties and 
bank balances. The amount of expected credit losses 

in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
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The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and 

from related parties and bank balances. The expected 

economic conditions and an assessment of both the 
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions  
at the reporting date, including time value of money 
where appropriate.

in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if 

instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 

12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL 
that is expected to result from default events on a 

after the reporting date.

SIGNIFICANT INCREASE IN CREDIT RISK

recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default 

reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 

recognition. In making this assessment, the Group 
considers both quantitative and qualitative information 
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical 
experience and forward-looking information that is 
available without undue cost or effort. Forward looking 
information considered includes the future prospects 
of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate, 

analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks 
and other similar organisations, as well as consideration 
of various external sources of actual and forecast 
economic information that relate to the Group’s  
core operations.

In particular, the following information is considered 
when assessing whether credit risk has increased 

credit rating;

default swap prices for the debtor, or the length of time 

has been less than its amortised cost;
• Existing or forecast adverse changes in business, 

meet its debt obligations;

operating results of the debtor;

instruments of the same debtor; and

the regulatory, economic, or technological environment 

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, 

when contractual payments are more than 30 days past 
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable 
information that demonstrates otherwise.

instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

• The borrower has a strong capacity to meet its 

• Adverse changes in economic and business conditions 
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce 

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 

appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 

amount becomes past due.

DEFINITION OF DEFAULT
The Group employs statistical models to analyse the 
data collected and generate estimates of probability of 

in default rates and changes in key macro-economic 
factors across various geographies of the Group.

CREDIT-IMPAIRED FINANCIAL ASSETS

events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 

includes observable data about the following events:

borrower;

or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 

consider;

WRITE-OFF POLICY

information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 

recovery e.g. when the debtor has been placed under 
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, 
or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts 
are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. 
Financial assets written off may still be subject to 
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery 
procedures, considering legal advice where appropriate. 

v) MEASUREMENT AND RECOGNITION OF EXPECTED 
CREDIT LOSSES
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function 

exposure at default. The assessment of the probability 
of default and loss given default is based on historical 
data adjusted by forward-looking information as 

described above. As for the exposure at default, for 

guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount 
drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any 
additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the 
future by default date determined based on historical 

forward-looking information.

estimated as the difference between all contractual 

expects to receive, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers 
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and continues to control the transferred 
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the 
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have 
to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and 

and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceeds received.

amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 

In addition, on derecognition of an investment in a debt 

gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment’s 

contrast, on derecognition of an investment in equity 
instrument which the Group has elected on initial 
recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain 
or loss previously accumulated in the investment’s 

but is transferred to retained earnings. 
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FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

amortized cost using the effective interest method or  
at FVTPL.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FVTPL
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, 
with any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value 

loss to the extent that they are not part of a designated 
hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognized 

at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of the 

credit risk of that liability is recognized in statement of 
other comprehensive income, unless the recognition 
of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk 
in other comprehensive income would create or 

or loss. The remaining amount of change in the fair 

liability’s credit risk that are recognized in statement 
of other comprehensive income are not subsequently 

are transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition 

by the Group that are designated by the Group as at 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED SUBSEQUENTLY 
AT AMORTIZED COST  
Financial liabilities that are not designated as FVTPL 
are measured subsequently at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 

allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 

points paid or received that form an integral part of 

the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the 

and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in 

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

and the net amount reported in the consolidated 

enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and 
the Group intends to settle on a net basis.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY 
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

While applying the accounting policies as stated in 
note 3, management of the Group has made certain 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be 
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period of the revision in which 
the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affects both current and future 

by management are summarised as follows:

4.1. CRITICAL JUDGMENTS IN APPLYING THE 
GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The following are the critical judgments, apart from 

management have made in the process of applying 
the Group’s accounting policies and have the most 

The Group recognises revenue over time as it performs 
continuous transfer of control of goods or services 
to the customers. Because customers simultaneously 

control transfer takes place over time, revenue is also 
recognised based on the extent of transfer/completion 

In determining the method for measuring progress 
for these POs, the Group considered the nature of 
these goods and services as well as the nature of its 
performance. The Group’s promise under the contracts 
is to prepare the software and provide them to their 
customers in number of steps along with support 
services. Provided that the nature of the products is 
highly customised and services are highly interrelated, 

upon receipt of acceptance of services from the 
customer.

Management considers recognizing revenue over time, 
if one of the following criteria is met, otherwise revenue 
will be recognized at a point in time:

the Group perform;

asset that the customer controls as the asset is created 
or enhanced; or

with an alternative use to the entity and the entity 
has an enforceable right to payment for performance 
completed to date.

CAPITALISATION OF COSTS
Management determines whether the Group will 

contract and costs incurred to obtain a contract if the 
costs meet all the following criteria:

• The costs relate directly to a contract or to an 

identify;
• The costs generate or enhance resources of the Group 
that will be used in satisfying performance obligations 
in the future; and
• The costs are expected to be recovered.

DETERMINING WHETHER UNSIGNED AGREEMENTS 
MEET THE DEFINITION OF CONTRACT UNDER IFRS 15
Certain projects for the Government of Abu Dhabi, its 
departments or related parties are executed based on 

historical business practice. Management considers 
such letter of intent and letter of award to meet the 

15 since the Group and the customer agree upon the 
essential elements of a contract and any other lawful 
conditions under letter of intent or letter of award 
signed by customer. Matters of detail are left to be 
agreed upon a later date, and the contract is deemed to 
be made and binding even in the absence of agreement 
on these matters of detail.

SIGNIFICANT INCREASE IN CREDIT RISK 
ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month 

DETERMINING LEASE TERM
In determining the lease term, management considers all 
facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a 
termination option. Extension options (or periods after 
termination options) are only included in the lease term if 
the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not 
terminated). Potential future cash outflows have not been 
included in the lease liability because it is not reasonably 
certain that the leases will be extended (or not 
terminated).

The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a 
significant change in circumstances occurs which affects 
this assessment and that is within the control of the lessee.

ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL assets for stage 
2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when 

Group considers qualitative and quantitative reasonable 
and supportable forward looking information. The 

looking information on macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the 

rate and consumer price index in which it sells its 
goods and services to be the most relevant factors, and 
accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on 
expected changes in these factors.

JUDGEMENTS IN DETERMINING THE TIMING OF 
SATISFACTION OF PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
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4.2. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 

a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets 

as below:

CONTRACT ASSETS
Contract assets represent amounts relating to work 

DISCOUNT RATE USED FOR INITIAL MEASUREMENT 
OF LEASE LIABILITIES

The Group, as a lessee, measures the lease liability at 
the present value of the unpaid lease payments at the
commencement date. The lease payments are 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, 
if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate 
cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its 
incremental borrowing rate.

Incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest that 
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to 
obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
assets in similar economic environment.

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate 
with reference to financial facilities available with 
similar tenure.

performed which is yet to be billed to customers. The 
contract assets expected to be realised after a period 

involved in management’s assessment of the amounts 
of revenue and contract assets recognised and the 
recoverability of these amounts. These judgments are 
reviewed as events occur and accordingly any changes 
thereon may have an impact on the amount of revenue 
and contract assets recognised in these consolidated 

The Group receives lump sum payments from certain 
clients in settlement of outstanding invoices and 
as advances for several projects. The allocation of 
proceeds against invoices and contract assets is 
determined based on management’s judgment.  

CALCULATION OF LOSS ALLOWANCE
When measuring ECL the Group uses reasonable and 
supportable forward-looking information, which is 
based on assumptions for the future movement of 
different economic drivers and how these drivers will 
affect each other. Loss given default is an estimate of 
the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference 

the lender would expect to receive, considering cash 

Probability of default constitutes a key input in 
measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate 
of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, 
the calculation of which includes historical data, 
assumptions and expectations of future conditions. 
As per ECL model, the allowance for contract assets, 
trade receivables and due from related parties is 
AED 18,464,625, AED 1,501,288 and AED 3,754,811, 
respectively, as at 31 December 2023 (2022: AED 
18,949,816, AED 1,912,208 and AED 17,162,703).

USEFUL LIVES OF PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
As described in note 3, the Group reviews the estimated 
useful lives of property and equipment, and intangible 
assets at the end of each annual reporting period in 
accordance with IAS 16: Property, plant and equipment 
and IAS 38: Intangible assets, respectively. Management 
determined that current year expectations do not differ 
from previous estimates.

IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Property and equipment and intangible assets are 
assessed for impairment based on assessment of cash 

based on contractual agreements and estimations 
over the useful life of the assets and discounted using 
a range of discounting rates representing the rate of 
return on such cash generating units. The net present 
values are compared to the carrying amounts to assess 

no impairment provision is necessary on property and 
equipment and intangible assets. 

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The capital working in progress (“CWIP”) as at 31 
December 2023 include advances paid for development
of low earth orbit (LEO) and high-altitude pseudo 
satellites (HAPS) amounting to AED 96,845,721.

Depreciation for the year has been allocated as follows:

The fully depreciated assets amounted to AED 
43,981,761 as at 31 December 2023 
(2022: AED 30,869,051).
These assets are located in UAE.

AED

computer 

AED
AED

and
Motor

vehicles

AED

in progress

AED
AED

Cost

At January 1 2022 - 46,393,280

4,479,670

4,479,670

97,345,465

97,345,465

60,657,277

Additions during the year

Transfers from capital 
work in progress - -

5,465,959

9,456,606

At January 1 2023

- -

8,798,038

8,798,038

Additions during the year

1,867,974 7,588,632

-

-

211,639,591

Disposals during the year

5,465,959

-- -

-

- -

-

-

(5,465,959)

7,333,933

7,505,793

171,860 109,496,723

(16,239)

163,462,396

53,981,912

8,943,911

145,873

281,737,235

(16,239)

70,113,883

At January 1 2022 - 29,571,773

8,785,870

8,817,76348,855,1392,965,155

-

Charge for the year 9,108,232 -

-

-

At January 1 2023

- -

38,680,005

8,775,131

-

-

-

48,932,838

Charge for the year

1,466,963

1,466,963

1,498,192 10,183,060

10,739

-

12,238,375

38,346,904

10,585,934

Disposals during the year (7,926)

31,893 525,230

525,230 61,163,287

-

--

(7,926)

-

4,540,638 114,607,257 126,148 3,954,440 97,345,465 220,573,948

Carrying Amount

At 31 December 2022
5,866,970 15,301,907 12,168 21,181,045

2023

AED

2022

AED

5,810,602 3,910,426

General and Administrative
expenses (note 20) 

Direct costs (note 19)

6,427,773

12,238,375

6,675,508

10,585,934
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets comprise of computer software, 
licenses. No impairment loss on intangible assets was 
recognised during the year. 

Amortisation for the year has been allocated as follows:

AED

Cost

At January 1 2022

Additions during the year

At January 1 2023

Additions during the year 1,160,414

9,432,501

1,034,827

11,627,742

10,467,328

AED

At January 1 2022

Charge for the year

At January 1 2023

Charge for the year 833,943

8,601,750

508,234

9,943,927

9,109,984

1,683,815

1,357,344

2023

AED

2022

AED

595,759

General and administrative
expenses (note 20) 

Direct costs (note 19) 

238,184

833,943

264,783

243,451

508,234

7. LEASES

The Group leased one warehouse during the year. 
The lease term is 2 years. Asset and liability 
recognised in respect of lease is as follows:

8. REFUNDABLE DEPOSITS

Refundable deposits are placed with a bank against 
performance guarantees issued to customers.

9. CONTRACT ASSETS

Contract assets balances relate to the Group’s right 
on consideration for goods and services provided but 
not billed at the reporting date. Contract assets are 
recognised for any work performed in line with a series 
of performance related milestones under software 
development, installation and support service contracts 
in excess of amounts billed to the customer. 

Any amount previously recognised as a contract asset 

it is invoiced to the customer. Payments that are not 
due from the customer until the services are complete 
and therefore a contract asset is recognised over the 
period in which the services are performed to represent 
the entity’s right to consideration for the services 
transferred to date. All the contract assets are expected 

current assets.

Carrying amount of contract assets is as follows:

Net contract assets of AED 662,817,449 (2022: AED 
270,162,281) pertain to related parties (note 12).

2023

AED

2022

AED

Contract assets 681,380,519 291,219,361

(18,464,625) (18,949,816)
Less: expected credit loss 

allowance

662,915,894 272,269,545

Right-of-use
asset

Lease
liability

AED AED

At 1 January 2022 and 
at 1 January 2023

2,538,871 2,538,871Additions during the year 

Accretion of interest (note 21)

Payments during the year

Depreciation for the year 
(note 20) (105,786)

11,616

(330,000)

-

--

-

-

2,220,4872,433,085

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss

2023

AED

2022

AED

105,786

Interest expense (note 21)
 
Expense relating to 
short-term lease
 

Depreciation expense (note 20) 

11,616

968,981

1,086,383 1,778,531

1,778,531

-

-

Lease liability is presented in the consolidated statement 
of financial position as follows:

2023

AED

2022

AED

1,226,427

Non-current liability
 

Current liability

994,060

2,220,487

-

-

-

Minimum lease payments due are as follows:

Lease
payments

Net 
present

value
AED

Finance
charges

AED AED

Not later than 1 year 1,329,900 (103,473) 1,226,427

994,060

Later than 1 year 
and not later than 
2 years (25,640)1,019,700

2,220,487(129,113)2,349,600
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9. CONTRACT ASSETS
Loss allowance on contract assets is as follows:

10. CONTRACT COSTS

Contract costs represent costs incurred relating to 
performance obligation on contracts with customers. 
The revenue related to these performance obligations 
will be recognised upon completion and acceptance 
from customers.

due from customers based on the Group’s provision 
matrix. The Group is applying different loss patterns for 
government and non-government customer segments. 
The loss rate is further distinguished based on the 
ageing of contract assets. The following are expected 
credit loss rates as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Government 

AED

Non-government 

AED AED
AED

At 1 January 2022

Net re-measurement of ECL

At 1 January 2023

Net re-measurement of ECL

- - -

-

-

(667,415) 182,224 (485,191)

5,879,610 497,258 12,087,757 18,464,625

6,547,025 315,034 12,087,757 18,949,816

6,547,025 315,034 12,087,757 18,949,816

Government Non-government 

Rates applied with due less than 1 year 0.61 0.76

Rates applied with due more than 1 year 2 -

2023

AED

2022

AED

Contract costs 4,646,098 539,650

CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The average credit period on sales of goods is 30 days
(2022: 30 days). No interest is charged on outstanding
trade receivables. 

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade 
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected 

estimated using a loss rate, with reference to past 
default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the 

conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate 
and an assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date. 

AED AED AED

At 1 January 2022 -

-

- -

Net re-measurement of ECL 1,912,208 1,912,208

At  1 January 2023 -

Net re-measurement of ECL

1,912,208 1,912,208

(434,984) (410,920)

1,477,224

24,064

24,064 1,501,288

2023

AED

2022

AED

Trade receivables 8,675,717

Less: expected credit loss allowance (1,501,288)

7,174,429

Advance to suppliers 8,649,979

1,912,208

(1,912,208)

-

-

-

42,466

Prepayments 2,097,939

3,525,818Accrued profits on Wakala deposits/interest receivable

Security deposits

2,108,450

525,250

Other receivables 132,570

20,688,617

31,208

3,599,492

The Group has adopted a policy of dealing with 
only creditworthy counterparties. Adequate credit 
assessment is made before accepting an order for sale 
of services or goods from counterparty.

Loss allowance on trade receivables movement is 
as follows:
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12. RELATED PARTY  BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS

The Group, in the ordinary course of business, enters 
into transactions, at agreed terms and conditions, with 
related parties. Related parties comprise of the Group’s 
shareholders, directors, senior management and 
businesses controlled by them and their families or over 

as well as key management personnel. The Group, in the 
ordinary course of business, enters into transactions, 
with other business enterprises or individuals that fall 

International Accounting Standard 24: Related Party 
Disclosures. The Group has a related party relationship 
with the Government of Abu Dhabi through partial 
ownership of Ultimate Shareholder by an entity owned 

by Government of Abu Dhabi, directors and executive 

The Group maintains significant balances with these 
related parties, which arise from commercial
transactions.

Balances and transactions between the Company and s 
subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this 
note.

CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL 
that has been recognised for due from related parties in 

IFRS 9.

AED AED
AED

At 1 January 2022 -

-

- -

Net re-measurement of ECL 3,287,986 13,874,717 17,162,703

At 1 January 2023

Net re-measurement of ECL

3,287,986 13,874,717 17,162,703

ECL written off (13,874,717) (13,874,717)

374,490 92,335 466,825

3,662,476 92,335 3,754,811

the following:

2023

AED

2022

AED

Government entities 143,815,385 147,076,094

Entities under common control

Associate 90,891,386

51,251,331 218,357,165

-

365,433,259

Government entities 10,212,200 10,212,200

30,849,000

37,685,283

24,057,993

34,270,193

Entities under common control (a)

A shareholder (b)

Interest payable (a), (b)

Loans from related parties

36,725,000

20,566,000

1,792,414

59,083,414

Less: expected credit loss allowance
(17,162,703)

348,270,556

285,958,102
(3,754,811)

282,203,291

Refer to note 13 for details of the Group’s cash held with 
the banks which are related parties. Refer to notes 9, 11, 
and 17 for details of balances with related parties.

-

-

-

-

Government Non-government 

Rates applied with due less than 1 year 0.61

Rates applied with due more than 1 year 5 -

-

due from customers based on the Group’s provision 
matrix. The Group is applying different loss patterns for 
government and non-government customer segments. 
The loss rate is further distinguished based on the 
ageing of contract assets. The following are expected 
credit loss rates as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The following table shows the movement of loans from
related parties:

2023

AED

2022

AED

59,083,414 53,789,625

- 40,213,875

Repayments during the year

At 1 January

Proceeds during the year

Interest paid during the year

Set-off with due from related parties (a), (b)

Waiver of related party interest payable (a)

(8,580,939) -

Interest accrued during the year 126,997 2,772,673

(131,575) -

(49,551,207) (37,692,759)

(946,690) -

- 59,083,414
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2023

AED

2022

AED

Cash on hand 10,000 10,000

Bank balances 38,853,772

Wakala deposits 683,888,388

78,163,067

-

-Bank deposits with original maturities less than three months 280,655,148

762,061,455 319,518,920

Add: term deposits with original maturities more than three months - 500,000,000

762,061,455 819,518,920

13. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Balances with banks are assessed to have low credit risk Wakala deposits have maturities of 2 weeks to 3 
months (31 December 2022: nil) from the date of 
placement and carry profit rates ranging on average 
from 4.7% to 5.2% (31 December 2022: nil). Deposits 
are placed on recurring basis and can be terminated 
anytime without prior notice and with a deduction of 
Wakala fee and a performance incentive from the 
actual realised investment profit. Income on Wakala 
deposits for the year ended 31 December 2023 
amounted to AED 16,214,838 (2022: AED nil).

Cash at bank of AED 762,051,455 (2022: AED 
819,508,920) pertains to banks which are related 
parties (note 12). Bank account under the name of a 
related party amounting to AED 19,633 (2022: AED 
79,265) has been assigned for the beneficial interest of 
the Group.

of default since these banks are highly regulated by the 
central banks of the respective countries. Accordingly, 
management of the Group estimates the loss allowance 
on balances with banks at the end of the reporting 
period at an amount equal to 12 month ECL. None of the 
balances with banks at the end of the reporting period 
are past due, and taking into account the historical 
default experience and the current credit ratings of the 
bank, the management of the Group have assessed that 
there is no impairment, and hence have not recorded 
any loss allowances on these balances.

2023

AED

2022

AED

1,153,304,124 788,344,956

189,329,376 33,971,561

Acquisition of property and equipment

Purchase of services and materials

Revenue (note 18)

Insurance costs

Bank charges incurred on behalf of a related party

102,830,184 -

Acquisition of intangible assets 180,000 -

1,287,526 -

-1,303,492

(ii) Transaction with related parties included in the 
consolidated financial statements includes the following:

COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
IS AS FOLLOWS:

2023 2022

13,205,679

786,171

9,012,202

620,785

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the 
Group has entered into a settlement agreement 
with the borrower (an entity under common 
control) to offset the loan facility outstanding 
amount of AED 36,725,000 against a receivable 
balance due from another entity under common 
control (a related party).Interest accrued on the 
loan facility amounting to AED 946,690 has been 
waived under the same settlement agreement.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the 
Group has entered into another settlement 
agreement with the borrower (a shareholder) to 
partially offset the loan facility balance amounting 
to AED 11,985,061 and the interest accrued of AED 
841,146 against a receivable balance due from 
another entity under common control (a related 
party).
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2023

AED

2022

AED

2,571,428,572 shares of AED 0.10 each

 (2022: 2,571,428,572 shares of AED 0.10 each)
257,142,857 257,142,857

2023

AED

2022

AED

At 1 January 3,000,000

197,000,000-

(200,000,000)-

Issue of shares at inception *

Increase in share capital (note 15)

183,625-

Issue of new shares ** 256,959,232-

257,142,857 257,142,857

14. SHARE CAPITAL

The movement of share capital are as follows:

CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

15. ADDITIONAL CAPITAL

On 14 September 2021, Ultimate Shareholder resolved 
to increase the share capital of the subsidiary by AED 
197,000,000 by a transfer from retained earnings 
and reduced the par value per share from AED 1,000 
to AED 1. The amended articles of association of the 
Company were notarized by the Notary Public on 10 
January 2022, thus the additional contributed capital is 
subsequently transferred to share capital.

18, REVENUE

The Group derives its revenue from contracts with 
customers for the transfer of goods and services over 
time and at a point in time. Refer to note 25 for revenue 
for major product lines.

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 
amounting to AED 1,153,304,124 (2022: AED 788,344,956)
pertains to related parties (note 12).

The Group derived all of its revenue from its operation 
in the UAE (2022: UAE).

Management expects that 51% (2022: 37%) of the 
transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied performance
obligations as at 31 December 2023 will be recognised 
as revenue during the next reporting period. The
remaining 49% (2022: 63%) will be recognised in the
 future years

performance obligations at 31 December are as setout 
below.

The average credit period on the purchase of goods is 
30-60 days (2022: 30-60 days). The Group has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure 
that all payables are paid within credit period. No
interest is charged on other payables.

Contract liabilities of AED 115,454,642 (2022: AED 
9,664,384) pertain to related parties (note 12).

Contributions made to the U.A.E. pension fund 
established by the General Pension and Social Security
Agency in respect of U.A.E. national employees during 
the year amounted to AED 3,543,841 (2022: AED
2,800,652).

16. EMPLOYEES’ END-OF-SERVICE BENEFITS

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2023

AED

2022

AED

As at 1 January 5,693,215

Charge for the year 3,024,686

Payments made during the 

year
(826,705)

7,891,196

3,883,242

2,488,327

(678,354)

5,693,215

Revenue from contracts 2023

AED

2022

AED

Products and services 

transferred at point in time
352,711,189

Products and services 

transferred over time
806,888,828

1,159,600,017

17,709,484

770,635,472

788,344,956

Revenue from contracts 2023

AED

2022

AED

Government entities 549,797,634

Entities under common 

control
608,909,438

Other entities 892,945

1,159,600,017

221,959,259

566,385,697 

-

788,344,956

2023

AED

2022

AED

Revenue from contracts 

with customers
2,013,022,364 894,047,404

2023

AED

2022

AED

Trade payables 301,480,697

Accrued expenses 179,641,156

Contract liabilities 130,389,495

VAT payable

Retention payable

7,558,231

160,874

5,257,621

278,867,319

18,983,468

7,728,092

Less: non-current portion (6,685,617)

-

619,230,453 310,836,500

612,544,836 310,836,500

257,142,857

As at 1 January 2022, the share capital pertains to that 
of Bayanat GIQ PJSC (formerly Bayanat for Mapping
& Surveying Services- Bayanat PJSC (formerly Bayanat 
For Mapping and Surveying Services – Bayanat
LLC)) (the “subsidiary”) comprising of 3,000 
authorized and issued shares of AED 1,000 each.

*As at date of establishment, on 28 September 2022, 
the share capital of the Company comprised of
1,838,236 authorized and issued shares of AED 0.1 
each.

**On 3 October 2022, the Shareholder resolved to 
increase the share capital of the Company to
AED 200,000,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 shares 
of AED 0.1 each and approved the offering and listing
of the Company on the Abu Dhabi Stock Exchange. 
The legal formalities were completed on 12 October
2022.

On 13 October 2022, pursuant to the public offering, 
the share capital of the Company was increased to
AED 257,142,857 divided into 2,571,428,572 shares of 
AED 0.1 each, with 571,428,572 shares being
offered for public subscription. The Company’s offer 
price was set at AED 1.1 per share and was fully
subscribed, resulting into share premium of AED 
571,428,572. Share issue costs amounted to
AED 4,620,400.
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2023

AED

2022

AED

Subcontract costs 637,087,994

Materials 121,742,501

Staff costs and allowances 38,549,852

5,810,602

Consultancy and professional fee 573,135

595,759

Other expenses 20,412

804,380,255

408,006,271

31,863,052

22,374,639

3,910,426

1,729,881

264,783

742,535

468,891,587

2023

AED

2022

AED

Staff costs and allowances 103,146,942

22,996,388

6,427,773

53,392,369

14,413,771

6,675,508

4,505,124

Marketing

Support services and professional fees

2,962,500Insurance

238,184

105,786Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 7)

Other expenses 2,824,760

149,375,155

2,937,194

1,747,6966,167,698

1,276,290

243,451

344,342

-

81,030,621

2023

AED

2022

AED

Interest income 13,085,741 4,401,042

(2,799,020)

(2,772,673)

Bank charges

Foreign exchange loss

Interest on contract liabilities

Interest on loans from related parties (note 12)

Interest on lease liabilities (note 7)

(597,456)

(391,394)

-

(406,160) -

(126,997)

(11,616) -

(3,941,249) (3,164,067)

19. DIRECT COSTS

20. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

21. FINANCE INCOME / (EXPENSES)

CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

2023

AED

2022

AED

141,696,794

12,238,375

833,943

105,786

75,767,008

10,585,934

508,234

-

2023

AED

2022

AED

Performance guarantees (a) 344,166,231

Letters of credit (a) 54,960,777

Capital commitments (b) 222,572,384

284,733,471

-

1,917,274

22. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

expenses:

23. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
The Group had the following contingent liabilities and 

Staff cost and allowances (notes 19 and 20)

Depreciation of property and equipment (note 5)

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 6)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 7)

commitments outstanding at 31 December:

(a) Performance guarantees and letters of credit 
were issued in the normal course of business.

(b) Contracted capital commitments are related to 
low earth orbit (LEO) and high-altitude pseudo
satellites (HAPS) assets which are under 
construction.
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Details of the material accounting policy information and 
methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, 

the basis of measurement and the basis on which 
income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each 

instrument are disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated 

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be 
able to continue as a going concern while maximising 
the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of 
the debt and equity balance. 

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

Group. These risks include market risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The Group does not enter into or trade in 

management purposes.

MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, 
such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity 
prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of 

market risk management is to manage and control 
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, 
while optimising the return. 

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK MANAGEMENT

exchange rates. The Group is not exposed to any 

monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in USD 
or AED which is pegged to USD.

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty 
will default on its contractual obligations resulting 

2023, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
without considering any collateral held or other credit 

Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the 

Group arises from the carrying amount of the respective 

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group maintain the 
Group’s credit risk gradings to categorise exposures 
according to their degree of risk of default. The credit 
rating information is supplied by independent rating 
agencies where available and, if not available, the 

information and the Group’s own trading records to 
rate its major customers and other debtors.
 
The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its 
counterparties are continuously monitored and the 
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread 
amongst approved counterparties.

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s 

contracts, as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk by credit risk rating grades.

CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

31 December 2022

Trade receivables N/A

Refundable deposit N/A

Due from related parties N/A

Bank balance AA N/A
12-month 

ECL

Contract assets N/A

deposits and due from related parties, the Group 

measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group 
determines the expected credit losses on these items 
by using a loss rate, estimated based on historical 
credit loss experience based on the past due status of 

conditions and estimates of future economic conditions.

Notes

12 month

ECL

Gross 

amount AED

Loss 

AED

Net 

amount 

AED

Trade receivables 11 N/A 8,675,715 (1,501,288) 7,174,429

Refundable deposit 8 N/A 24,828,420 - 24,828,420

Due from related parties 12 N/A 285,958,102 (3,754,811) 282,203,291

Bank balance 13 AA N/A
12-month 

ECL
762,051,455 - 762,051,455

Contract assets 9

11

8

12

13

9

N/A 681,380,519 (18,464,625) 662,915,894

1,912,208 (1,912,208) -

24,828,420 - 24,828,420

365,433,259 (17,162,703) 348,270,556

819,508,920 - 819,508,920

291,219,361 (18,949,816) 272,269,545
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LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable 
to meet its funding requirements. To manage this 
risk, the Management periodically assesses liquidity 
needs and ensures adequate reserves are maintained. 
Management also monitors forecast and actual cash 

 
and liabilities.  

Current

1 Year

AED

Non-current

greater than

1 Year

AED

AED

Trade and other payables
(excluding contract
liabilities and VAT payable) 

481,282,727 -

Due to related parties 37,685,283

481,282,727

37,685,283-

Lease liabilities 1,226,427 994,060 2,220,487

520,194,437

284,124,940

34,270,193

59,083,414

377,478,547

284,124,940

34,270,193

59,083,414

377,478,547

994,060 521,188,497

31 December 2022

Trade and other payables
(excluding contract
liabilities and VAT payable) 

-

Due to related parties -

Loan from related parties -

-

determined on the basis of the remaining period from 
the end of the reporting period to the contractual 

management to ensure adequate liquidity is maintained. 

CONSOLIDATED 
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25. OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group has four reportable segments, as described 
below. Reportable segments offer different products
and services and are managed separately because they 
require different technology and operational marketing 
strategies. For each of the strategic business units, the 
Group’s executive management reviews internal 
management reports on at least a quarterly basis. The 
following summary describes the operations in each of 
the Group’s reportable segment:

• Smart Geospatial Solutions (SGS): The SGS division is 
a geospatial one-stop shop offering end-to-end services 
from data acquisition and processing to artificial 
intelligence services, to a growing number of sectors 
such as defense, environment, energy & resources, 
smart cities, and transportation.

• Smart Mobility Solutions (SMOS): The SMOS division 
is the pioneer of autonomous driving and unmanned 
systems in MENA with a proven technological capability 
and know-how including Autonomous Solutions, Cloud 
Infra, Digital Twins, Charging Infrastructure, 
Transportation Super Apps, and Testing and Simulation.

• Smart Operations Solutions (SOPs): The SOP division 
is driving the revolution in how entities approach their 
operations, by providing customers the latest 
AI-powered innovative technological solutions which 
deliver both superior efficiency and efficacy.

• Smart Space Solutions (SPAS): The SPAS division is a 
vertical AI-powered information solutions provider, 
utilizing space-based platforms across Remote Sensing, 
and Communication to deliver timely, actionable 
insights to various industries.

The Group does not allocate segment results of the 
holding Company that performs financing activities and
certain other functions. Results of the Company are not 
significant to be disclosed as operating segment
because quantitative thresholds are not met and are 
presented as Other.

Information regarding the results of each reportable 
segment is included below. Performance is measured
based on segment profit, as included in the internal 
management reports data reviewed by the Group’s
executive management. Segment profit is used to 
measure performance as management believes that 
such information is the most relevant in evaluating the 
results of certain segments relative to other entities that
operate within these industries.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Management considers that the fair values of 

 
their carrying amounts.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date, regardless of whether that price 
is directly observable or estimated using another 
valuation technique.

The fair value measurements are categorised into Level 
1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to 
the fair value measurements are observable and the 

in its entirety, which are described as follows:

markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity 
can access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
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2023

AED

Smart
Geospatial

Solutions
(SGS)

AED

Smart
Space

Solutions 
(SPAS)

Smart 

(SMOS)

AED

Smart 

(SOPs)

AED

Other 

AED AED

Revenue 323,547,049 100,821,753 558,062,716 - 1,159,600,017

Direct cost (178,041,789) (92,349,467) (502,823,373) - (804,380,255)

145,505,260 8,472,286 55,239,343 - 355,219,762

(51,957,818) (8,136,667) (47,943,122) 19,939,273 (122,840,898)

Reportable segment 
93,547,442 335,619 7,296,221

177,168,499

(31,165,626)

146,002,873

(34,742,564)

111,260,309 19,939,273 232,378,864

265,598,055 230,265,750 292,481,151 788,344,956

(71,293,532) (141,712,483) (255,885,572) (468,891,587)

194,304,523 88,553,267 36,595,579 319,453,369

(63,975,874) (29,338,006) (27,442,712) 3,595,567 (117,161,025)

130,328,649 59,215,261 9,152,867 3,595,567 202,292,344

2022

Revenue -

Direct cost -

-

-

-

-

-

-
Reportable segment 

CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

26. EARNINGS PER SHARE

average number of shares for the purposes of basic 
earnings per share:

According to IAS 33, Earnings per share, an increase in 
shares as a result of capitalisation and share split, the 
calculation of basic earnings per share for all periods 
should be adjusted retrospectively. Thus, the Company 
adjusted the capitalisation and share split at the 
beginning of the earliest period presented.

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by 

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the year.

to calculate earnings per share:

Diluted earnings per share are not applicable as the 
Company has not issued any instruments which would 
have an impact on earnings per share.

2023

Shares

2022

Shares

As At 1 January

Issuance of new shares (refer note 14)

2,571,428,572

2,571,428,572

2,000,000,000

- 95,499,022

2,095,499,022

2023 2022

232,378,864

Weighted average number of ordinary shares issued 2,571,428,572

0.09

202,292,344

2,095,499,022

0.10
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27. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE 28. CORPORATE INCOME TAX

 
 

29. IFRS SUSTAINABILITY DISCLOSURE STANDARDS

30. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures were reclassified to conform 
with the current year’s presentation. Such reclassifications 
have no effect on the results or the equity of the Group.

31. AUTHORISATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

by management and authorised for issue on:
7 February 2024..

CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Associate
Place of

incorporation
and operations

Principal activities

Percentage of ownership

2023

25% -

2022

Sindan-Additive
Manufacturing Center
of Excellence L.L.C (1)

Details of the Group’s associate are as follows:

(1) Sindan-Additive Manufacturing Center of Excellence 
(the “Associate”) has been incorporated on 15 June 2023 
under trade licence CN-4941831 as a Limited Liability 
Company in Abu Dhabi, UAE. The Group has 25% 
ownership in the Associate. As at 31 December 2023, the 
Group has not contributed to its percentage of ownership 
in the share capital.

On 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance 
released the Federal Decree-Law No. 47 of 2022 on the 
Taxation of Corporations and Businesses (the Law) to 
enact a Federal corporate tax (CT) regime in the UAE. The 
CT regime will become effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 June 2023.

The Cabinet of Ministers Decision No. 116 of 2022 specifies 
the threshold of income over which the 9% tax rate would 
apply and accordingly, the Law is now considered to be 
substantively enacted. A rate of 9% will apply to taxable 
income exceeding AED 375,000, a rate of 0% will apply to 
taxable income not exceeding AED 375,000 and a rate of 
0% on qualifying income of free zone entities.

The Group has conducted an assessment of the potential 
impact of these laws and regulations. Based on this 
assessment, the Group has determined that no deferred 
tax implications to be considered in the preparation of 
these consolidated financial statements.

On 26 June 2023, the International Sustainability 
Standards Board (ISSB) published first two IFRS 
Sustainability Disclosure Standards at the IFRS 
Foundation Conference 2023:

• IFRS S1 General Requirements for Disclosure of 
Sustainability-related Financial Information - IFRS S1 sets 
out overall requirements with the objective to require an 
entity to disclose information about its sustainability 
related risks and opportunities that is useful to the primary 
users of general purpose financial reports in making 
decisions relating to providing resources to the entity.

• IFRS S2 Climate-related Disclosures - IFRS S2 sets out 
the requirements for identifying, measuring and disclosing 
information about climate-related risks and opportunities 
that is useful to primary users of general purpose financial 
reports in making decisions relating to providing
resources to the entity. 

Subject to adoption by the local jurisdiction, both 
Standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2024, with substantial transitional reliefs to 
allow preparers more time to align reporting of 
sustainability related financial disclosures and financial 
statements.

Abu Dhabi,
UAE

Building engineering
consultancy with 3D
Printing Technology,
decoration design &

implementation using 3D
Printing Technology,

exporting and importing.
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DISCLAIMER 

DISCLAIMER

This Report may contain “forward-looking statements” with respect to Bayanat AI PLC (together with its subsidiaries, 
the “Group”) financial condition, results of operations and businesses and certain of the Group’s plans and objectives. 
In particular, such forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements with respect to: growth 
projections relating to the industry or segments thereof over specified periods; competitive positioning and growth 
potential; expectations of the Group’s future financial condition, performance or results of operations; the Group’s 
contracted future revenues; ability to secure new revenue opportunities (currently identifiable or otherwise); potential 
for diversification; financial ability to pursue future opportunities; expected date of commencement of commercial 
operations on new missions; ability to deliver anticipated new products and services that will meet or exceed 
expectations and stimulate demand; factors expected to stimulate demand or uptake; future prospects of certain 
technologies and solutions; price evolution of products and services; the characteristics of, and ability to deliver 
against, our progressive dividend policy. Forward-looking statements are sometimes, but not always, identified by 
their use of a timeframe or date in the future or such words as “will”, “anticipates”, “positioned”, “set to”, “set for”, 
“poised”, “expects”, “believes”, “intends” (including in their negative form or other variations). By their nature, 
forward-looking statements are inherently predictive, speculative and involve risk and uncertainty because they relate 
to events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. There are a number of factors that 
could cause actual results and developments to differ materially from those expressed or implied by these 
forward-looking statements. No assurances can be given that the forward-looking statements in this document will 
be realised. Subject to compliance with applicable law and regulations, Bayanat AI PLC does not intend to update 
these forward-looking statements and does not undertake any obligation to do so. You are therefore cautioned not 
to place any undue reliance on forward-looking statements.
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